

Approximate transmission conditions for time-harmonic Maxwell equations in a domain with thin layer

Victor Péron, Clair Poignard

▶ To cite this version:

Victor Péron, Clair Poignard. Approximate transmission conditions for time-harmonic Maxwell equations in a domain with thin layer. [Research Report] RR-6775, 2008, pp.37. inria-00347971v1

HAL Id: inria-00347971 https://inria.hal.science/inria-00347971v1

Submitted on 17 Dec 2008 (v1), last revised 14 Sep 2009 (v3)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



INSTITUT NATIONAL DE RECHERCHE EN INFORMATIQUE ET EN AUTOMATIQUE

Approximate transmission conditions for time-harmonic Maxwell equations in a domain with thin layer

Victor Péron — Clair Poignard

N° 6775

Décembre 2008

Thème NUM



ISSN 0249-6399 ISRN INRIA/RR--6775--FR+ENG



DE RECHERCHE EN INFORMATIQUE ET EN AUTOMATIQUE

Approximate transmission conditions for time-harmonic Maxwell equations in a domain with thin layer

Victor Péron *, Clair Poignard[†]

Thème NUM — Systèmes numériques Équipes-Projets MC2

Rapport de recherche n° 6775 — Décembre 2008 — 34 pages

Abstract: We study the behavior of the electromagnetic field in a biological cell modelized by a medium surrounded by a thin layer and embedded in an ambient medium. We derive approximate transmission conditions in order to replace the membrane by these conditions on the boundary of the interior domain. Our approach is essentially geometric and based on a suitable change of variables in the thin layer. Few notions of differential calculus are given in order to obtain our asymptotic conditions in a simple way. This paper extends to time-harmonic Maxwell equations the previous works presented in [27, 29, 28, 4]. Asymptotic transmission conditions at any order are given in Appendix 1.

Key-words: Asymptotic analysis, Maxwell's equations, differential calculus

* Université de Rennes1, I.R.M.A.R. & CNRS UMR 6625, Campus de Beaulieu, 35042 Rennes Cedex, France

[†] INRIA Bordeaux-Sud-Ouest, Institut de Mathématiques de Bordeaux, CNRS UMR 5251 & Université de Bordeaux1, 351 cours de la Libération, 33405 Talence Cedex, France

Centre de recherche INRIA Bordeaux - Sud Ouest Domaine Universitaire - 351, cours de la Libération 33405 Talence Cedex Téléphone : +33 5 40 00 69 00

Conditions de transmission approchées pour les équations de Maxwell en régime harmonique dans un milieu à couche mince

Résumé : Nous étudions le comportement asymptotique du champ électromagnétique dans une cellule biologique plongée dans un milieu ambiant. La cellule est composée d'un cytoplasme entouré d'une fine membrane. Nous obtenons des conditions de transmission sur le bord du cytoplasme équivalentes à la couche mince. Notre approche est essentiellement géométrique et basée sur un changement de variables adéquat dans la couche mince. Quelques notions de calcul différentiel sont rappelées afin d'obtenir directement notre développement asymptotique. Par ailleurs des estimations d'erreur sont démontrées. En appendice, nous présentons le développement asymptotique à tout ordre.

Mots-clés : Analyse Asymptotique, Equations de Maxwell, Calcul différentiel

Contents

1	Introduction and motivations			
2	Maxwell equations using differential forms			
	2.1	The considered problem	5	
	2.2	Variational formulation.	7	
	2.3	Main result	10	
3	Geometry 13			
	3.1	Parameterization of Γ	13	
	3.2	The transmission conditions in local coordinates	14	
	3.3	Rescaling in the thin layer	15	
4	Ansatz and formal expansion 15			
	4.1	Order 0	16	
	4.2	Order 1	17	
	4.3	Order 2	18	
5	Justification of the expansion 19			
	5.1	Regularity results	20	
	5.2	Convergence	21	

1 Introduction and motivations

The electromagnetic modelization of biological cells has become extremely important since several years, in particular in the biomedical research area. In the simple models [14, 16], the biological cell is a domain with thin layer composed of a conducting cytoplasm surrounded by a thin insulating membrane. When exposed to an electric field, a potential difference is induced across the cell membrane. This transmembrane potential (TMP) may be of sufficient magnitude to be biologically significant. In particular, if it overcomes a threshold value, complex phenomenons such as electropermeabilization or electroporation may occur [34, 33, 22, 21]. The electrostatic pressure becomes too high that the thin membrane is locally destructured: some exterior molecules might be internalized inside the cell. These process hold great promises particularly in oncology and gene therapy, to deliver drug molecules in cancer treatment. This is the reason why an accurate knowledge of the distribution of the electromagnetic field in the biological cell is necessary.

Several papers in the bioelectromagnetic research area deal with numerical electromagnetic modelizations of biological cells [23, 32, 30]. Actually the main difficulties of the numerical computations lie in the thinness of the membrane (the relative thickness of the membrane is of order 1/1000 compared with the size of the cell) and in the high contrast between the electromagnetic parameters of the cytoplasm and the membrane. We present here an asymptotic method to replace the thin membrane by appropriate transmission conditions on the boundary of the cytoplasm.

In previous papers [27, 29, 28, 4], an asymptotic analysis is proposed to compute the electric potential in domains with thin layer, using the electroquasistatic approximation¹. However it is not clear that the magnetic effects of the field may be neglected. This is the reason why we present in this paper an asymptotic analysis for time-harmonic Maxwell equations in a domain with thin layer.

Our analysis is closed to those performed in [27, 29, 28]. Roughly speaking, it is based on a suitable change of variables in the membrane in order to write the explicit dependence of the studied differential operator in terms of the small parameter (the thinness of the membrane). Since we consider Maxwell equations in time-harmonic regime, in accordance with Flanders [15], Warnick *et al.* [35, 36] and Lassas *et al.* [17, 18], we choose the differential calculus formalism to perform our change of variables in a simple way. Basic notions of differential forms with explicit formulae are recalled in Appendix 2.

Throughout this paper, we consider a material composed of an interior domain surrounded by a thin membrane. This material, representing a biological cell, is embedded in an ambient medium submitted to an electric current density. We study the asymptotic behavior of the electromagnetic field in the three domains (the ambient medium, the thin layer and the cytoplasm) for the thickness of the membrane tending to zero. We derive appropriate transmission conditions on the boundary of the cytoplasm in order to remove the thin layer from the problem. Actually, the influence of the membrane is approached by these transmission conditions. To justify our asymptotic expansion, we provide

¹The electroquasistatic approximation consists in considering that the electric field comes from a potential: $E = -\nabla V$. In this approximation the curl part of the electric field vanishes and the magnetic field is neglected.

piecewise estimates of the error between the exact solution and the approximate solution.

The paper is structured as follows. In Section 2, we present the studied problem in the differential calculus formalism and the main result of the paper. Section 3 is devoted to the geometry: we perform our change of variables and we write the problem in the so-called local coordinates. In Section 4 we derive formally our asymptotic expansion, which is rigorously proved in Section 5. In Appendix 1, we give recurrence formulae to obtain asymptotics at any order. Appendix 2 is devoted to the basic notions of differential forms used in the paper.

2 Maxwell equations using differential forms

In the following we use the conventions of differential calculus formalism. Definitions and basic properties of the differential calculus are given in Appendix 2. We recall here the usual notations.

Notation 2.1. Let k be an integer. For a compact, connected and oriented Riemanian manifold (M, \mathfrak{g}) of \mathbb{R}^n we denote by $\Omega^k(M)$ the space of k-forms defined on M.

• The exterior product between two differential forms ω and η is denoted by $\omega \wedge \eta$.

• The inner product on $\Omega^k(M)$ is denoted by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\Omega^k}$.

• The Hodge star operator is denoted by \star .

• The interior product of a differential form ω with a smooth vector field Y is written $int(Y)\omega$.

Let us denote the exterior differential and codifferential operators respectively by d, δ . The Laplace-Beltrami operator Δ is defined by $\Delta = -d\delta - \delta d$.

 $L^2\Omega^k(M)$ is the space of the square integrable k – forms of M while for $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $H^s\Omega^k(M)$ is the usual Sobolev space of k-forms. Let $H\Omega^k(\mathbf{d}, M)$ and $H\Omega^k(\delta, M)$ denote

$$H\Omega^{k}(\mathbf{d}, M) = \left\{ \omega \in L^{2}\Omega^{k}(M) : \mathbf{d}\omega \in L^{2}\Omega^{k+1}(M) \right\}, \tag{1}$$

$$H\Omega^{k}(\delta, M) = \left\{ \omega \in L^{2}\Omega^{k}(M) : \quad \delta\omega \in L^{2}\Omega^{k-1}(M) \right\}, \tag{2}$$

that are Banach spaces when associated with their respective norms

$$\begin{aligned} \|\omega\|_{H\Omega^{k}(\mathbf{d},M)} &= \|\omega\|_{L^{2}\Omega^{k}(M)} + \|\mathbf{d}\omega\|_{L^{2}\Omega^{k+1}(M)}, \\ \|\omega\|_{H\Omega^{k}(\delta,M)} &= \|\omega\|_{L^{2}\Omega^{k}(M)} + \|\delta\omega\|_{L^{2}\Omega^{k-1}(M)}. \end{aligned}$$

We also denote by $H\Omega^k(\mathbf{d}, \delta, M)$ the space $H\Omega^k(\mathbf{d}, M) \cap H\Omega^k(\delta, M)$ equipped with the norm

 $\|\omega\|_{H\Omega^{k}(\mathbf{d},\delta,M)} = \|\omega\|_{L^{2}\Omega^{k}(M)} + \|\mathbf{d}\omega\|_{L^{2}\Omega^{k+1}(M)} + \|\delta\omega\|_{L^{2}\Omega^{k-1}(M)}.$

 $H^{s}(M)$ and $L^{2}(M)$ denotes the respective spaces $H^{s}\Omega^{0}(M)$ and $L^{2}\Omega^{0}(M)$.

2.1 The considered problem

Let Γ be a compact oriented surface of \mathbb{R}^3 without boundary. Consider the smooth connected bounded domain \mathcal{O}_c with boundary Γ ; \mathcal{O}_c is surrounded by

RR $n^{\circ} 6775$

a thin layer $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}$ with constant thickness ε . This material with thin layer is embedded in an ambient smooth connected domain $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}$ with compact oriented boundary. We denote by \mathcal{O} the ε -independent domain defined by

$$\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon} \cup \overline{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}.$$

Moreover, we denote by Γ_{ε} the boundary of $\overline{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}}$ (see Fig 1). Let μ_{c} , μ_{m} and μ_{e} be three positive constants and let q_{e} , q_{c} and q_{m} be three complex numbers. Define the two piecewise functions μ and q on \mathcal{O} by

$$\forall x \in \mathcal{O}, \quad \mu(x) = \begin{cases} \mu_{\mathsf{e}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}, \\ \mu_{\mathsf{m}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}, \\ \mu_{\mathsf{c}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \end{cases} \quad \forall x \in \mathcal{O}, \quad q(x) = \begin{cases} q_{\mathsf{e}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}, \\ q_{\mathsf{m}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}, \\ q_{\mathsf{c}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}. \end{cases}$$

The function μ is the dimensionaless permeability of \mathcal{O} while the function q denotes its dimensionaless complex permittivity². Let $d_0 > 0$ such that for



Figure 1: Geometry of the problem

each point q of Γ , the normal lines of Γ passing through q, with center at qand length $2d_0$ are disjoints. In the following, we suppose that $\varepsilon \in (0, d_0)$. We denote by $\mathcal{O}_{e}^{d_0}$ the set of points $\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{O}_{e}^{\varepsilon}$ at the distance greater than d_0 of Γ . We suppose that the ambient medium is submitted to a current density \mathbb{J} compactly supported in $\mathcal{O}_{e}^{d_0}$. All along the paper the following hypothesis holds.

Hypothesis 2.2. (i) There exists $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathcal{O}$,

$$c_1 \leqslant -\Im(q(x)) \leqslant c_2 < 0, \quad 0 < \Re(q(x)) \leqslant c_2. \tag{3}$$

(ii) The source current density \mathbb{J} satisfies

 $\operatorname{supp}(\mathbb{J}) \Subset \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{d_0}, \quad \mathbb{J} \in L^2\Omega^1\left(\mathcal{O}\right), \quad \delta \mathbb{J} = 0, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}.$

²Using the notations of the electrical engineeering community, $q = \omega^2 \left(\epsilon - i\frac{\sigma}{\omega}\right)$, where ω is the frequency, ϵ the permittivity and σ the conductivity of the domain [3].

Maxwell equations describe the behavior of the electromagnetic field in \mathcal{O} . Denote by \mathbb{E} and \mathbb{H} the 1-forms representing respectively the electric and the magnetic fields in \mathcal{O} in time-harmonic regime. Denote by $N_{\partial \mathcal{O}}$ the outward normal vector field to $\partial \mathcal{O}$. In the following and accordingly Remark 2.2 of Appendix 2, the normal vector field and the corresponding normal 1-form are identified. Maxwell equations in time-harmonic regime write [17, 18, 35]

$$d\mathbb{E} = i \star (\mu \mathbb{H}), \quad d\mathbb{H} = -i \star (q\mathbb{E} + \mathbb{J}), \text{ in } \mathcal{O}, \tag{4a}$$

$$N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{E}|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0$$
, on $\partial \mathcal{O}$. (4b)

Using the idempotence of \star in \mathbb{R}^3 , we may infer the vector wave equation on \mathbb{E}

$$\star d\left(\frac{1}{\mu} \star d\mathbb{E}\right) - q\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{J}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}, \quad N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{E}|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0, \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{O}.$$

Since μ is a scalar function³ of \mathcal{O} , we infer

$$\delta\left(\frac{1}{\mu}\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}\right) - q\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{J}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}, \quad N_{\partial\mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{E}|_{\partial\mathcal{O}} = 0, \text{ on } \partial\mathcal{O}.$$
(5)

Remark 2.3. Denote \mathbb{E} in Euclidean coordinates by $E_x dx + E_y dy + E_z dz$ and similarly for \mathbb{H} and \mathbb{J} . Problem (4) and problem (5) write now

$$\operatorname{curl} \mathbb{E} = \mathrm{i}\mu \mathbb{H}, \quad \operatorname{curl} \mathbb{H} = -\mathrm{i}\left(q\mathbb{E} + \mathbb{J}\right), \text{ in } \mathcal{O}, \quad N_{\partial\Omega} \times \mathbb{E}|_{\partial\Omega} = O, \text{ on } \partial\mathcal{O},$$

and

$$\operatorname{curl}\left(\frac{1}{\mu}\operatorname{curl}\mathbb{E}\right) - q\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{J}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}, \quad N_{\partial\Omega} \times \mathbb{E}|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \text{ on } \partial\mathcal{O}.$$

2.2 Variational formulation.

Our functional space $\mathbf{X}(q)$ is defined as

$$\mathbf{X}(q) = \left\{ u \in H\Omega^1(\mathbf{d}, \mathcal{O}), \, \delta(qu) \in L^2(\mathcal{O}), \, N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge u|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0 \right\},\,$$

associated with its graph norm

$$||u||_{\mathbf{X}(q)} = ||u||_{H\Omega^1(\mathbf{d},\mathcal{O})} + ||\delta(qu)||_{L^2(\mathcal{O})}.$$

Define the sesquilinear form a_q in $\mathbf{X}(q)$ adapted to a regularized variational formulation of the problem (5) by

$$a_{q}(u,v) = \int_{\mathcal{O}} \left(\frac{1}{\mu} \langle \mathrm{d}u, \mathrm{d}\overline{v} \rangle_{\Omega^{2}} + \langle \delta(qu), \delta(\overline{qv}) \rangle_{\Omega^{0}} - q \langle u, \overline{v} \rangle_{\Omega^{1}} \right) \mathrm{dvol}_{\mathcal{O}} \,.$$

Using inequalities (3), the following lemma holds.

Lemma 2.4. There exists a constant $c_0 > 0$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in (0, d_0)$,

$$\Re(\alpha a_q(u, u)) \geqslant c_0 \|u\|_{\mathbf{X}(q)}^2.$$
(6)

³If μ is a tensor the previous equation (5) becomes $\delta(\star \mu^{-1} \star d\mathbb{E}) - q\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{J}$.

For all $\varepsilon \in (0, d_0)$, we consider the variational problem: find $\mathbb{E} \in \mathbf{X}(q)$ such that

$$\forall u \in \mathbf{X}(q), \quad a_q(\mathbb{E}, u) = \int_{\mathcal{O}} \left\langle \mathbb{J}, \overline{u} \right\rangle_{\Omega^1} \operatorname{dvol}_{\mathcal{O}}.$$
 (7)

Using Hypothesis 2.2 the following theorem holds.

Theorem 2.5 (Equivalent problems). Let Hypothesis 2.2 hold. (i) There is at most one solution $\mathbb{E} \in \mathbf{X}(q)$ to problem (7). (ii) The solution \mathbb{E} satisfies (5) in a weak sense

$$\delta \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E} - \mu q \mathbb{E} = \mathbb{J}, in \ \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \quad N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{E}|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0,$$

with the divergence condition

$$\delta(q\mathbb{E}) = 0, in \mathcal{O} \tag{8}$$

and the following equalities⁴ hold for $\mathscr{S} \in \{\Gamma, \Gamma_{\varepsilon}\}$

$$[N_{\mathscr{S}} \wedge \mathbb{E}]_{\mathscr{S}} = 0, \quad \left[\frac{1}{\mu} \operatorname{int}(N_{\mathscr{S}}) \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}\right]_{\mathscr{S}} = 0, \quad [q \operatorname{int}(N_{\mathscr{S}})\mathbb{E}]_{\mathscr{S}} = 0. \tag{9}$$

(iii) If $(\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{H}) \in (L^2\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}))^2$ is solution to problem (4) then $\mathbb{E} \in \mathbf{X}(q)$ satisfies (5). Conversely, if $\mathbb{E} \in \mathbf{X}(q)$ satisfies (5) then the couple of 1-forms $(\mathbb{E}, -(i/\mu) \star d\mathbb{E})$ belongs to $(L^2\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}))^2$ and satisfies problem (4).

Proof. The proof is based on an idea of Costabel et al..

(i) Accordingly estimate (6), a straightforward application of the well-known Lax-Milgram theorem leads to existence and uniqueness of the solution \mathbb{E} to the regularized variational problem (7).

(ii) The proof is precisely worked out in full details in [5, 6] in a very slightly different configuration. We just give here the sketch of the proof. The first transmission conditions (9) easily come from Green formula of Proposition 2.8. The divergence conditions straightforwardly come from $\delta(q\mathbb{E}) = 0$, using (5) and $\delta^2 \equiv 0$. The other implication is obvious. We then prove that this solution satisfies $\delta(q\mathbb{E}) = 0$.

Denote by $H\Delta(\mathcal{O})$ the space of functions $\phi \in H_0^1(\mathcal{O})$ such that $\delta(qd\phi)$ belongs to $L^2(\mathcal{O})$. Integrations by parts imply

$$\forall \phi \in H\Delta(\mathcal{O}), \quad a_q(\mathbb{E}, \mathrm{d}\phi) = \int_{\mathcal{O}} \left\langle \delta(q\mathbb{E}), \overline{\delta(q\mathrm{d}\phi) + \phi} \right\rangle_{\Omega^0} \mathrm{dvol}_{\mathcal{O}}.$$

Since $\Im(q) \leq -c_1 < 0$, the function $\delta(qd\phi) + \phi$ runs through the whole $L^2(\mathcal{O})$ space for ϕ running through $H\Delta(\mathcal{O})$. Moreover, since $\delta(\mathbb{J})$ vanishes we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{O}} \left\langle \mathbb{J}, \overline{\mathrm{d}\phi} \right\rangle_{\Omega^1} \mathrm{dvol}_{\mathcal{O}} = 0,$$

from which we infer that $\delta(q\mathbb{E})$ identically vanishes in $L^2(\mathcal{O})$ according to (7). Therefore the solution \mathbb{E} of problem (7) solves problem (5).

⁴For an oriented surface \mathscr{S} without boundary and for a differential form u defined in a neighborhood of \mathscr{S} we denote by $[u]_{\mathscr{S}}$ the jump across \mathscr{S} . $N_{\mathscr{S}}$ denotes the outward normal to \mathscr{S}

(*iii*) If (\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{H}) solves problem (4) we straightforwadly infer (5), since \star is idempotent and since μ is a scalar function. Conversely, defining \mathbb{H} by

$$\mathbb{H} = -\frac{\mathrm{i}}{\mu} \star \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E},$$

we infer that (\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{H}) solves problem (4).

Denote by \mathcal{O}_{e} the domain $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}} = \mathcal{O} \setminus \overline{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}}$. Define $\tilde{\mu}$ and \tilde{q} by

$$\forall x \in \mathcal{O}, \quad \tilde{\mu}(x) = \begin{cases} \mu_{\mathsf{c}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \\ \mu_{\mathsf{e}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}, \end{cases} \quad \forall x \in \mathcal{O}, \quad \tilde{q}(x) = \begin{cases} q_{\mathsf{c}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \\ q_{\mathsf{e}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}. \end{cases}$$

Let $\mathbb{E}^0 \in \mathbf{X}(\tilde{q})$ be the "background" solution defined by

$$\forall u \in \mathbf{X}(\tilde{q}), \quad a_{\tilde{q}}(\mathbb{E}^0, u) = \int_{\mathcal{O}} \left\langle \mathbb{J}, \overline{u} \right\rangle_{\Omega^1} \operatorname{dvol}_{\mathcal{O}},$$

which means in a weak sense

$$\delta\left(\frac{1}{\tilde{\mu}}\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^{0}\right) - \tilde{q}\,\mathbb{E}^{0} = \mathbb{J},\,\mathrm{in}\,\,\mathcal{O},\quad N_{\partial\mathcal{O}}\wedge\mathbb{E}^{0}|_{\partial\mathcal{O}} = 0.$$
(10)

We have the following regularity result.

Proposition 2.6. Let Hypothesis 2.2 hold. Moreover let $s \geq 0$ and \mathbb{J} belong to $H^s\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_{e}^{d_0})$. Then the 1-form \mathbb{E}^0 exists and is unique in $\mathbf{X}(\tilde{q})$. Moreover, denoting by $\mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},0}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},0}$ its respective restrictions to \mathcal{O}_{c} and \mathcal{O}_{e} , we have

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},0} \in H^{2+s}\Omega^1\left(\mathcal{O}_\mathsf{e}\right), \quad \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},0} \in H^{2+s}\Omega^1\left(\mathcal{O}_\mathsf{c}\right).$$

Proof. The 1-form \mathbb{E}^0 satisfies (10). The proof of the existence and the uniqueness of \mathbb{E}^0 in $\mathbf{X}(\tilde{q})$ is very similar to those performed in Theorem 2.5 by replacing $\mathbf{X}(q)$ by $\mathbf{X}(\tilde{q})$ and a_q by $a_{\tilde{q}}$. Since $\delta \mathbb{J}$ vanishes, we infer $\delta(\tilde{q}\mathbb{E}^0) = 0$ and therefore \mathbb{E}^0 satisfies

$$-\Delta \mathbb{E}^0 - \tilde{\mu} \tilde{q} \, \mathbb{E}^0 = \mathbb{J}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \quad N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{E}^0|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0,$$

with transmission conditions

$$egin{aligned} & \left[N_{\Gamma}\wedge\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^{0}
ight]_{\Gamma}=0, \quad \left[\widetilde{q}\operatorname{int}(N_{\Gamma})\mathbb{E}^{0}
ight]_{\Gamma}=0, \ & \left[rac{1}{\widetilde{\mu}}\mathrm{int}(N_{\Gamma})\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^{0}
ight]_{\Gamma}=0, \quad & \left[\delta(\widetilde{q}\mathbb{E}^{0})
ight]_{\Gamma}=0. \end{aligned}$$

The same calculations as performed in Proposition 2.1 of Costabel *et al.* [6] imply that the set of the above transmission and boundary conditions covers⁵ the Laplacian in \mathcal{O}_{c} and in \mathcal{O}_{e} , in the sense of Definition 1.5 at page 125 of Lions and Magenes [20]. Therefore we infer the piecewise elliptic regularity of \mathbb{E}^{0} , which ends the proof of the lemma.

9

⁵Accordingly the appendix of the paper of Li and Vogelius [19] the regularity of \mathbb{E}^0 may also be obtained by using a reflection to reduce the problem to an elliptic system with complementing boundary conditions in the sense of Agmon *et al.*[1, 2].

The following estimates hold

Proposition 2.7. Under Hypothesis 2.2, there exists C > 0 such that for all $\varepsilon \in (0, d_0)$

$$\|\mathbb{E}\|_{\mathbf{X}(q)} \leqslant C,\tag{11}$$

$$\|\mathbb{E} - \mathbb{E}^0\|_{H\Omega^1(\mathbf{d},\mathcal{O})} \leqslant C\sqrt{\varepsilon}.$$
 (12)

Proof. Using (6), estimates (11) are obvious since $\Im(q) \leq -c_1 < 0$. Prove now (12). We first mention that \mathbb{E}^0 belongs to $H^2\Omega^1(\varpi)$ for $\varpi \in \{\mathcal{O}_e, \mathcal{O}_c\}$, according to Proposition 2.6; hence $\mathbb{E}^0 \in L^{\infty}\Omega^1(\varpi)$ and $d\mathbb{E}^0 \in L^{\infty}\Omega^2(\varpi)$. Denoting by $\mathbb{U} = \mathbb{E} - \mathbb{E}^0$ we infer

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathcal{O}} \frac{1}{\mu} \langle \mathrm{d}\mathbb{U}, \overline{\mathrm{d}\mathbb{U}} \rangle_{\Omega^2} - q \langle \mathbb{U}, \overline{\mathbb{U}} \rangle_{\Omega^1} \operatorname{dvol}_{\mathcal{O}} = q_{\mathsf{m}} \int_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}} \langle \mathbb{E}^0, \overline{\mathbb{U}} \rangle_{\Omega^1} \operatorname{dvol}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}} \\ &- \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} \int_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}} \langle \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^0, \overline{\mathrm{d}\mathbb{U}} \rangle_{\Omega^2} \operatorname{dvol}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore using (11) and using the assumption (3) on q, we infer

$$\|\mathrm{d}\mathbb{U}\|_{L^2\Omega^2(\mathcal{O})} + \|\mathbb{U}\|_{L^2\Omega^1(\mathcal{O})} \leqslant C\sqrt{\varepsilon}.$$

2.3	Main	result

Consider the inclusion $\mathcal{J} : \Gamma \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}$, and \mathcal{J}^* its pull-back $\mathcal{J}^* : \Omega^k(\mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow \Omega^k(\Gamma), k \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$. Denote by d_{Γ} and δ_{Γ} the exterior differential and the codifferential operators defined on $\Omega^k(\Gamma)$. Define \mathbb{S} and \mathbb{T} by

$$\mathbb{S} = (q_{\mathsf{m}} - q_{\mathsf{e}}) \mathcal{J}^*(\mathbb{E}^0)|_{\Gamma^+} + \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}}\right) \delta_{\Gamma} d_{\Gamma} \left(\mathcal{J}^*(\mathbb{E}^0)\right)|_{\Gamma^+}, \tag{13}$$

$$\mathbb{T} = q_{\mathsf{c}} \left(\frac{1}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} - \frac{1}{q_{\mathsf{e}}} \right) \mathrm{d} \left(\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \mathbb{E}^{0}|_{\Gamma^{-}} \right) + \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}} - \mu_{\mathsf{e}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \operatorname{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \left(\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^{0} \right) \Big|_{\Gamma^{-}}.$$
(14)

The explicit expressions of S and T in local coordinates are given in Section 5. Let \mathbb{E}^1 be the 1-forms defined by

$$\delta d\mathbb{E}^1 - \tilde{\mu} \tilde{q} \mathbb{E}^1 = 0, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \quad N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{E}^1 |_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0,$$

with the following transmission conditions on Γ

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^{1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^{1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = \mathbb{S}, \tag{15}$$

$$N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{E}^{1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{E}^{1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{T}.$$
(16)

The aim of this paper is to prove the following theorem.

Theorem 2.8. Under Hypothesis 2.2, if moreover the current density \mathbb{J} belongs to $H^3\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_{e}^{d_0})$, there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ and a constant C, independent on ε such that

$$\forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0), \quad \|\mathbb{E} - (\mathbb{E}^0 + \varepsilon \mathbb{E}^1)\|_{H\Omega^1(\mathbf{d}, \delta, \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}})} \leqslant C \varepsilon^2,$$

and for any domain ϖ compactly embedded in \mathcal{O}_{e} , there exists $\varepsilon_{\varpi} > 0$ and a constant $C_{\varpi} > 0$ independent on ε such that

$$\forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{\varpi}), \quad \|\mathbb{E} - (\mathbb{E}^0 + \varepsilon \mathbb{E}^1)\|_{H\Omega^1(\mathbf{d}, \delta, \varpi)} \leqslant C_{\varpi} \varepsilon^2.$$

INRIA

Remark 2.9. It is possible to give a precise behavior of \mathbb{E} in a neighborhood of Γ by defining a 1-form in the thin membrane (see Theorem 5.3).

In this paper we choose to deal with differential forms, in accordance with Flanders [15]. This point of view has the convenience of considering both electric and magnetic fields as 1-forms, *i.e.* they are physically similar in accordance with electrical engineering considerations [3]. It is also possible to derive our asymptotics by tensor calculus considerations, as used in linear elasticity of thin shell [7, 12, 13]. This approach is worked out in full details in the thesis [25] of the first author.

Remark 2.10. [The tensor calculus formulation] Since we are confident that our result might be very useful for bioelectromagnetic computations, and since the electrical engineering community may feel uncomfortable with the differential calculus formalism, we translate our result with the help of "usual" differential operators. Denote by ∇_{Γ} and ∇_{Γ} the respective gradient and divergence operators on Γ . Define Rot_{Γ} and rot_{Γ} by

$$\forall f \in C^{\infty}(\Gamma), \quad \operatorname{Rot}_{\Gamma} f = (\nabla_{\Gamma} f) \times N_{\Gamma}, \\ \forall \mathbf{f} \in (C^{\infty}(\Gamma))^{3}, \quad \operatorname{rot}_{\Gamma} \mathbf{f} = \nabla_{\Gamma} \cdot (\mathbf{f} \times N_{\Gamma}).$$

Then $(\mathbb{E}^k)_{k=0,1}$ (seen as vector field) satisfy the following equations

 $\operatorname{curl}\operatorname{curl}\mathbb{E}^{k}-\tilde{\mu}\tilde{q}\mathbb{E}^{k}=\delta_{0}^{k}\mathbb{J}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}\cup\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \quad N_{\partial\mathcal{O}}\times\mathbb{E}^{k}|_{\partial\mathcal{O}}=0,$

with the following transmission conditions on Γ

$$N_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{E}^{0}|_{\Gamma^{+}} = N_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{E}^{0}|_{\Gamma^{-}}, \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \left(N_{\Gamma} \times \operatorname{curl} \mathbb{E}^{0} \right)|_{\Gamma^{+}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(N_{\Gamma} \times \operatorname{curl} \mathbb{E}^{0} \right)|_{\Gamma^{-}},$$
(17)

$$N_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{E}^{1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} \times N_{\Gamma} = N_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{E}^{1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} \times N_{\Gamma} + q_{\mathsf{c}} \left(\frac{1}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} - \frac{1}{q_{\mathsf{e}}}\right) \nabla_{\Gamma} \left(\mathbb{E}^{0}|_{\Gamma^{-}} \cdot N_{\Gamma}\right) + \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}} - \mu_{\mathsf{e}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\operatorname{curl} \mathbb{E}^{0} \times N_{\Gamma}\right)|_{\Gamma^{-}},$$
(18)

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \left(\operatorname{curl} \mathbb{E}^{1} \times N_{\Gamma} \right) |_{\Gamma^{+}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\operatorname{curl} \mathbb{E}^{1} \times N_{\Gamma} \right) |_{\Gamma^{-}} + \left(q_{\mathsf{m}} - q_{\mathsf{e}} \right) \left(N_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{E}^{0} \times N_{\Gamma} \right) |_{\Gamma^{+}} \\
+ \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \right) \operatorname{Rot}_{\Gamma} \operatorname{rot}_{\Gamma} \left(N_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{E}^{0} \times N_{\Gamma} \right) |_{\Gamma^{+}}.$$

Remark 2.11. [The impedance boundary condition of Engquist–Nédélec [11]] Let \mathbb{J} be supported in \mathcal{O}_{c} (and divergence free) and suppose that $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}$ is a perfectly conducting domain. Therefore $q_{\mathsf{e}} = +\infty$ and $\mu_{\mathsf{e}} = 0$. An homogeneous Dirichlet condition is imposed on Γ_{ε}

$$N_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}} \times \mathbb{E}|_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}} = 0$$

We are now in the same configuration as the problem studied by Engquist and Nédélec [11] at page 18. According to (17)–(18), writing the condition satisfied

 $\rm RR~n^{\circ}~6775$

by $\mathbb{E}^0 + \varepsilon \mathbb{E}^1$ and neglecting the terms in ε^2 , we infer the following boundary condition for the first-order approximate field \mathbb{E}_a

$$N_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{E}_{a}|_{\Gamma^{-}} \times N_{\Gamma} = -\varepsilon \left(\frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} \nabla_{\Gamma} \left(\mathbb{E}_{a}|_{\Gamma^{-}} \cdot N_{\Gamma} \right) + \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\operatorname{curl} \mathbb{E}_{a} \times N_{\Gamma} \right)|_{\Gamma^{-}} \right).$$

Recall that according to Maxwell equations, $\operatorname{curl} \mathbb{E} = i\mu_c \mathbb{H}$ and $\operatorname{curl} \mathbb{H} = -iq_c \mathbb{E}$. Therefore $q_c \mathbb{E} \cdot N_{\Gamma} = i \operatorname{curl} \mathbb{H} \cdot N_{\Gamma}$. According to the definition of $\nabla_{\Gamma} \cdot$ (see for example equation (2.22) page 5 of [11]), we infer⁶

$$\nabla_{\Gamma} \cdot (\mathbb{H} \times N_{\Gamma}) = \operatorname{curl} \mathbb{H} \cdot N_{\Gamma} = -\mathrm{i}q_{\mathsf{c}} \mathbb{E} \cdot N_{\Gamma}, \tag{19}$$

and the impedance boundary condition follows

$$N_{\Gamma} \times \mathbb{E}_a|_{\Gamma^-} \times N_{\Gamma} = -\mathrm{i}\varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} \nabla_{\Gamma} \left(\nabla_{\Gamma} \cdot \left(\mathbb{H}_a \times N_{\Gamma} \right) \right) + \mu_{\mathsf{m}} \left(\mathbb{H}_a \times N_{\Gamma} \right)|_{\Gamma^-} \right).$$

Observe that this is the impedance boundary condition of given in [11] page 19, since they took the normal interior to their domain Ω_{∞} , hence $n = -N_{\Gamma}$.

We point out few arguments to enlight the convenience of differential calculus formalism.

(i) Anisotropy. For sake of simplicity, we deal here with isotropic materials, however the anisotropic case may be interesting for applications. In this case, μ and q are matrices and the vector wave equation becomes

$$\delta\left(\left(\star\mu^{-1}\star\right)\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}\right) - q\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{J}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O} \quad N_{\partial\mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{E}|_{\partial\mathcal{O}} = 0, \text{ on } \partial\mathcal{O},$$

and the following transmission conditions hold on $\mathscr{S} \in \{\Gamma, \Gamma_{\varepsilon}\}$

$$\left[\operatorname{int}(N_{\mathscr{S}})\left(\star\mu^{-1}\star\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}\right)\right]_{\mathscr{S}}=0,\quad\left[N_{\mathscr{S}}\wedge\mathbb{E}\right]_{\mathscr{S}}=0.$$

To obtain the approximate transmission conditions equivalent to the thin layer, we just have to write the tensor $\star \mu^{-1} \star$ in local coordinates, with the help of the explicit formulae given in Appendix 2. The calculations are more tedious but we are confident that the reader has all the tools to perform the analysis.

(*ii*) Non-constant thickness. We consider here a thin layer with constant thickness. As mentionned in Section 1 a high electric field may occur a dramatically local decreasing of the thickness of the membrane, possibly leading to the apparition of pores. Hence the thickness of the membrane is no more constant with respect to the tangential variable. As performed in [28], the change of variables would lead to additional terms in the transmission conditions. These terms would come from the fact that the coefficients g_{i3} of the matrix (g_{ij}) given by (20) do not vanish. The derivation of the asymptotics would be more tedious but, once again, we are confident that all the tools are given in the present paper to perform the calculation.

In the case of a rough thin layer, the present analysis may not be applied. We have to introduce appropriate correctors as performed in [4].

$$\operatorname{int}(N_{\Gamma})\mathbb{E}^{0}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = -\frac{1}{\operatorname{i}q_{\mathsf{c}}}\operatorname{int}(N_{\Gamma})\delta\left(\star\mathbb{H}^{0}\right) = -\frac{1}{\operatorname{i}q_{\mathsf{c}}}\delta_{\Gamma}\left(\operatorname{int}(N)\star\mathbb{H}^{0}|_{\Gamma}\right), \text{ which is exactly equality (19).}$$

⁶Using differential forms and since dN = 0 equality (2.05) implies

(*iii*) Link with Helmholtz equation. Observe that equations (5) are welldefined if \mathbb{E} and \mathbb{J} are functions, since the operators d and δ are defined for k-forms and the exterior product between a 1-form and a function is also welldefined. Moreover, since δ acting on functions is zero, the operator $-\delta d$ coincides with Laplace-Beltrami operator Δ . In addition, the above differential forms \mathbb{S} and \mathbb{T} are well-defined even if \mathbb{E}^0 is a function, and in this case we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{S} &= (q_{\mathsf{m}} - q_{\mathsf{e}}) \, \mathbb{E}^{0}|_{\Gamma^{+}} + \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}}\right) \delta_{\Gamma} \mathrm{d}_{\Gamma} \left(\mathbb{E}^{0}\right)|_{\Gamma^{+}}, \\ \mathbb{T} &= \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}} - \mu_{\mathsf{e}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \operatorname{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \left(\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^{0}\right)|_{\Gamma^{-}}, \end{split}$$

since the interior product $int(N_{\Gamma})$ acting on functions is zero. Writing formally our asymptotic transmission conditions for functions in tensor calculus formalism, we infer that the function u solution to

$$-\nabla \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\mu}\nabla u\right) - qu = j, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}, \quad u|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0,$$

is approached by $u^0 + \varepsilon u^1$ where $(u^k)_{k=0,1}$ satisfy

$$-\Delta u^k - \tilde{\mu} \tilde{q} u^k = \delta_0^k j, \quad \text{in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}, \quad u^k|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0,$$

with the following transmission conditions

$$\begin{split} & [u^{0}]_{\Gamma} = 0, \quad \left[\frac{1}{\tilde{\mu}}\partial_{n}u^{0}\right]_{\Gamma} = 0, \quad u^{1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - u^{1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = \frac{\mu_{\mathrm{m}} - \mu_{\mathrm{e}}}{\mu_{\mathrm{c}}}\partial_{n}u^{0}|_{\Gamma^{-}}, \\ & \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathrm{e}}}\partial_{n}u^{1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathrm{c}}}\partial_{n}u^{1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = (q_{\mathrm{m}} - q_{\mathrm{e}})u^{0}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathrm{m}}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathrm{e}}}\right)\Delta_{\Gamma}u^{0}|_{\Gamma^{+}}. \end{split}$$

This asymptotic expansion is rigorously proved in [26] (see equations (4) page 4 of [26]). Therefore the differential calculus provide a link between the results for Helmholtz and Maxwell equations.

3 Geometry

Let \mathscr{V}_{Γ} be the tubular open neighborhood of Γ composed by the points at the distance d_0 of Γ . In the following, it will be convenient to write the involved differential form \mathbb{E} in local coordinates in the tubular neighborhood \mathscr{V}_{Γ} of Γ . We denote by $\mathscr{V}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}$ and \mathscr{V}_{c} the respective intersections $\mathscr{V}_{\Gamma} \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}$ and $\mathscr{V}_{\Gamma} \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}$.

3.1 Parameterization of Γ .

Let $\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}} = (x_1, x_2)$ be a system of local coordinates on $\Gamma = \{\psi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}})\}$. By abuse of notations, we denote by $\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}} \in \Gamma$ the point of Γ equal to $\psi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}})$. In the (x_1, x_2) -coordinates, we denote by N_{Γ} the outward vector normal to Γ defined by

$$N_{\Gamma} = \frac{\partial_1 \psi \wedge \partial_2 \psi}{\|\partial_1 \psi \wedge \partial_2 \psi\|},$$

and we define by Φ the following map

$$\forall (\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) \in \Gamma \times \mathbb{R}, \quad \Phi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) = \psi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}) + x_3 N_{\Gamma}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}).$$

RR n° 6775

Notation 3.1. In the following ∂_j stands for ∂_{x_j} for j = 1, 2, 3. Moreover we use the summation indices convention $a_i b_i = \sum_{i=1,2,3} a_i b_i$. Observe that according to our change of variables, \mathbf{x}_{T} denotes the tangential variables and x_3 is the normal direction. To accentuate the difference between \mathbf{x}_{T} and x_3 , the Greek letters α and β (and possibly γ , ι , κ and λ) denote the indices in $\{1,2\}$, while the letters i, j, k denote the indices in $\{1,2,3\}$. Eventually it is convenient to introduce the Levi-Cività symbol ϵ_{ijk} defined by

$$\epsilon_{ijk} = \begin{cases} +1, \text{ if } \{i, j, k\} \text{ is an even permutation of } \{1, 2, 3\}, \\ -1, \text{ if } \{i, j, k\} \text{ is an odd permutation of } \{1, 2, 3\}, \\ 0, \text{ if any two labels are the same.} \end{cases}$$

According to the definition of d_0 , the tubular neighborhood \mathscr{V}_{Γ} of Γ may be parameterized by

$$\mathscr{V}_{\Gamma} = \left\{ \Phi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3), \quad (\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) \in \Gamma \times (-d_0, d_0) \right\}.$$

The system of coordinates $(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3)$ is the so-called local coordinates of \mathscr{V}_{Γ} . The Euclidean metric of \mathscr{V}_{Γ} written in $(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3)$ -coordinates is given by the following matrix $(g_{ij})_{i,j=1,2,3}$

$$(g_{ij})_{i,j=1,2,3} = \begin{pmatrix} g_{11} & g_{12} & 0\\ g_{12} & g_{22} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(20)

where the coefficient $g_{\alpha\beta}$ equals $g_{\alpha\beta} = \langle \partial_{\alpha} \Phi, \partial_{\beta} \Phi \rangle$. Here $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the Euclidean scalar product of \mathbb{R}^3 . Denote by (g^{ij}) the inverse matrix of (g_{ij}) , and by g the determinant of (g_{ij}) . The coefficients $g_{\alpha\beta}$ might be written with the help of the coefficients of the first, the second and of the third fundamental forms of Γ in the basis $(\partial_1 \psi, \partial_2 \psi)$ (see Do Carmo [8])

$$g_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) = g^0_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}) - 2x_3 b_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}) + x_3^2 c_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}).$$

The mean curvature \mathscr{H} of Γ equals

$$\mathscr{H} = -\frac{1}{2} \left. \frac{\partial_3 \left(\sqrt{g} \right)}{\sqrt{g}} \right|_{x_3 = 0}.$$
 (21)

3.2 The transmission conditions in local coordinates

In the $(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3)$ -coordinates, write $\mathbb{E} = E_i dx^i$. N_{Γ} is the outward normal field of Γ , which is identified to the 1-form dx^3 in accordance with Remark 2.2. Applying straightforward the formulas of Appendix 2 we infer

$$N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{E} = E_{\alpha} \mathrm{d} x^{3} \mathrm{d} x^{\alpha}, \quad \mathrm{int}(N_{\Gamma})\mathbb{E} = E_{3}, \quad \mathrm{int}(N_{\Gamma})\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E} = (\partial_{3}E_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha}E_{3}) \,\mathrm{d} x^{\alpha}.$$

Hence transmission conditions (9) write for $h \in \{0, \varepsilon\}$

$$[E_{\alpha}]_{x_3=h} = 0, \quad \left[\frac{1}{\mu} \left(\partial_3 E_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha} E_3\right)\right]_{x_3=h} = 0, \quad [q \, E_3]_{x_3=h} = 0. \tag{22}$$

3.3 Rescaling in the thin layer

Denote by E_j^{e} and by E_j^{c} the respective restrictions of E_j to $\mathscr{V}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}$ and to \mathscr{V}_{c} . In $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}$ we perform the rescaling $x_3 = \varepsilon \eta$, $\eta \in (0, 1)$, and we denote by E_j^{m} , by g_{ij}^{m} and by g^{m} the following functions

$$\forall \eta \in (0,1), \quad \begin{cases} \mathcal{E}_{j}^{\mathsf{m}}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\eta) = E_{j}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\varepsilon\eta) \\ g_{ij}^{\mathsf{m}}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\eta) = g_{ij}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\varepsilon\eta), & \text{for } i,j = 1,2,3 \\ g^{\mathsf{m}}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\eta) = g(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\varepsilon\eta) \end{cases}$$

Observe that $g^{\mathsf{m}}_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\eta) = g^{0}_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}) - 2\varepsilon\eta b_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}) + \varepsilon^{2}\eta^{2}c_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}})$, hence for $l \in \mathbb{N}$, $\partial^{l}_{\eta}g^{\mathsf{m}}_{\alpha\beta} = O(\varepsilon^{l})$, while $\partial^{l}_{\alpha}g^{\mathsf{m}}_{\iota\kappa} = O(1)$. Denote by

$$\delta \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E} = a_i^{\mathsf{m}}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \eta) \mathrm{d}x^i, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}.$$

Applying formula (2.09) with the metric given by (20), and performing the rescaling $x_3 = \varepsilon \eta$, we infer,

$$a_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m}} = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}}\partial_{\eta}^{2}\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(\partial_{\eta}\partial_{\lambda}\mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}} + \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3}\epsilon_{\iota\kappa3}\frac{g_{\lambda\iota}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \frac{\partial_{\eta}}{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\kappa}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \right) \partial_{\eta}\mathcal{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{m}} \right) + \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3}\epsilon_{\iota\kappa3}\frac{g_{\lambda\iota}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \left(\partial_{\kappa} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \partial_{\alpha}\mathcal{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{m}} \right) - \frac{\partial_{\eta}}{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\kappa}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \right) \partial_{\beta}\mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}} \right),$$
(23)

$$a_{3}^{\mathsf{m}} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \partial_{\kappa} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\iota}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g}^{\mathsf{m}}} \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{m}} \right) + \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \partial_{\alpha} \left(\frac{g_{\beta\iota}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \partial_{\kappa} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}} \right).$$
(24)

The divergence free condition $\delta \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{m}} = 0$ with equality (2.07) writes then

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\partial_{\eta}\mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}}\frac{\partial_{\eta}}{\varepsilon}(\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}})\mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}} + \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3}\epsilon_{\iota\kappa3}\frac{1}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}}\partial_{\alpha}\left(\frac{g_{\kappa\beta}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}}\mathcal{E}_{\iota}^{\mathsf{m}}\right) = 0.$$
(25)

The transmission conditions (22) in $x_3 = \varepsilon$ become

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \left(\partial_3 E_\lambda - \partial_\lambda E_3 \right) |_{x_3 = \varepsilon^+} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \partial_\eta \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m}}_\lambda - \partial_\lambda \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m}}_3 \right) \Big|_{\eta = 1}$$
(26a)

$$E_{\lambda}|_{x_3=\varepsilon^+} = \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\eta=1}.$$
(26b)

The transmission conditions (22) in $x_3 = 0$ write

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m}} - \partial_{\lambda} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}} \right) \Big|_{\eta=0} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{3} E_{\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda} E_{3} \right) \Big|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}$$
(27a)

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\eta=0} = E_{\lambda}|_{x_3=0^-},\tag{27b}$$

and the transmission conditions for the normal components ${\cal E}_3$ are

$$q_{\mathsf{e}}E_{3}|_{x_{3}=\varepsilon^{+}} = q_{\mathsf{m}}\mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\eta=1}, \quad q_{\mathsf{m}}\mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\eta=0} = q_{\mathsf{c}}E_{3}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}.$$
 (28)

4 Ansatz and formal expansion

We set now our ansatz. We look solutions written as formal series in ε

$$\mathbb{E}|_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}} = \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{e},0}|_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}} + \varepsilon \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}} + \cdots, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}, \tag{29a}$$

$$\mathbb{E}|_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}} = \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},0} + \varepsilon \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},1} + \cdots, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \tag{29b}$$

RR n° 6775

and in the cylinder $\Gamma \times (0, 1)$,

$$\mathbb{E}|_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}} \circ \Phi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \varepsilon \eta) = \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m}, 0}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \eta) + \varepsilon \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m}, 1}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \eta) + \cdots, \qquad (29c)$$

where the 1-forms $(\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{e,n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, and $(\mathbb{E}^{c,n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ are defined in ε -independent domains. We emphasize that the sequence $(\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{e,n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is defined in $(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon})^{\mathbb{N}}$ even if its associated serie does not approach \mathbb{E} in the thin layer.

Remark 4.1. The 1-forms $(\mathcal{E}^{m,n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ are profiles defined in the cylinder $\Gamma \times (0,1)$; note the difference with the 1-forms $(\mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$. These profiles are the key-point of the following asymptotic expansion.

In \mathscr{V}_{Γ} , for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we denote by

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},n} = \widetilde{E}_i^{\mathsf{e},n}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) \mathrm{d}x^i, \quad \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},n} = E_i^{\mathsf{c},n}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) \mathrm{d}x^i, \\ \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},n} = \mathcal{E}_i^{\mathsf{m},n}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \eta) \mathrm{d}x^i, \quad \eta = x_3/\varepsilon.$$

Our aim is to identify the first two terms of the sequences and to estimate the remainder term. Suppose that for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the forms $\left(\widetilde{E}_{k}^{\mathsf{e},n}\right)_{k=1,2,3}$ are as regular as necessary. Using formal Taylor expansion, we infer for l = 0, 1

$$\partial_j^l \widetilde{E}_k^{\mathbf{e},n} |_{x_3=\varepsilon^+} = \partial_j^l \widetilde{E}_k^{\mathbf{e},n} |_{x_3=0^+} + \varepsilon \partial_3 \partial_j^l \widetilde{E}_k^{\mathbf{e},n} |_{x_3=0^+} + \cdots$$
(30)

It is convenient to define \mathbb{E}^n for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ by

$$\mathbb{E}^n = \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{e},n}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}, \quad \mathbb{E}^n = \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},n}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}$$

We are now ready to derive formally our asymptotics. Replace the coefficients $(\mathcal{E}_{j}^{\mathsf{m}})_{j=1,\dots,3}$ and $(E_{j})_{j=1,\dots,3}$ in equations (23)–(24)–(25) and in transmission conditions (26)–(27)–(28) by their respective formal expansion (29), and use the formal Taylor expansion (30). Observe that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we necessarily have

$$\delta d\mathbb{E}^n - \tilde{\mu} \tilde{q} \mathbb{E}^n = \delta_0^n \,\mathbb{J}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \quad N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{E}^n |_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0, \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{O}.$$
(31a)

Observe that
$$\delta \mathbb{E}^n = 0$$
, in $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}$, (31b)

since $\delta \mathbb{J} = 0$. It remains to build the appropriate transmission conditions by identifying the terms with the same power of ε .

4.1 Order 0

The term of order -2 in (23) vanishes hence $\partial_{\eta}^{2} \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{m,0} = 0$. From the divergence free condition (25) we infer $\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{m,0} = 0$. Equality (26a) implies $\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{m,0} = 0$. Therefore the coefficients $\mathcal{E}_{j}^{m,0}$ depend only on \mathbf{x}_{T} . From (26b)–(27b)–(28) we infer for n = 0, 1

$$\partial_{\beta}^{n} \widetilde{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{e},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} = \partial_{\beta}^{n} E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}, \qquad (32a)$$

$$q_{\mathbf{e}}\partial^{n}_{\beta}\widetilde{E}^{\mathbf{e},0}_{3}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} = q_{\mathbf{c}}\partial^{n}_{\beta}E^{\mathbf{c},0}_{3}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}.$$
(32b)

4.2 Order 1

Since $\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},0}_{\alpha}$ and the terms of order -1 in (23) vanish, we infer

$$\partial_{\eta}^2 \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},1}_{\alpha} = 0. \tag{33}$$

Hence $\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},1}_{\alpha}$ is constant with respect to η . Therefore, according to (26a)

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \left(\partial_3 \widetilde{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{e},0} - \partial_\alpha \widetilde{E}_3^{\mathsf{e},0} \right) |_{x_3=0^+} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_3 E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},0} - \partial_\alpha E_3^{\mathsf{c},0} \right) |_{x_3=0^-}.$$
(34)

According to (31)–(32)–(34) the 1–forms $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{e,0}$ and $\mathbb{E}^{c,0}$ satisfy the elliptic problem (10). According to (27b) and to (28), we infer

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},0}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\eta) = E^{\mathsf{c},0}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},0), \qquad (35a)$$

$$\mathcal{E}_3^{\mathsf{m},0}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\eta) = \frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} E_3^{\mathsf{c},0}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},0).$$
(35b)

Therefore the terms of order 0 are entirely determined. According to (27a), using (35) and since $\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}^{\mathfrak{m},1}_{\alpha}$ does not depend on η accordingly (33), we infer

$$\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},1}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\eta) = \frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} \partial_{\alpha} E^{\mathsf{c},0}_{3}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} + \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{3} E^{\mathsf{c},0}_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha} E^{\mathsf{c},0}_{3} \right)|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}.$$
 (36)

The transmission conditions follow

$$\widetilde{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{x_3=0^+} + \partial_3 \widetilde{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{e},0}|_{x_3=0^+} = \partial_\eta \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{m},1} + \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{m},1}|_{\eta=0},$$

and

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},1}_{\alpha}|_{\eta=0} = E^{\mathsf{c},1}_{\alpha}|_{x_3=0^-}.$$

Therefore we infer

$$\widetilde{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{x_3=0^+} - E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{x_3=0^-} = \partial_\eta \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{m},1} - \partial_3 \widetilde{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{e},0}|_{x_3=0^+}.$$

Using (36) and according to (32) and (34) we infer

$$\widetilde{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} - E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} = \left(\frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} - \frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{e}}}\right) \partial_{\alpha} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} + \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}} - \mu_{\mathsf{e}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{3} E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},0} - \partial_{\alpha} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0}\right)|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}.$$
(37)

The divergence free condition leads to

$$\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},1} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{g^{0}}} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \partial_{\alpha} \left(\frac{g_{\kappa\beta}^{0}}{\sqrt{g^{0}}} E_{\iota}^{\mathsf{c},0} \right) |_{x_{3}=0^{-}} + 2\mathscr{H} \frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0} |_{x_{3}=0^{-}}, \quad (38)$$

where \mathscr{H} is given by (21). Transmission condition (28) implies

$$q_{\mathsf{e}}\widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} + q_{\mathsf{e}}\partial_{3}\widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} = q_{\mathsf{m}}\partial_{\eta}\mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},1} + q_{\mathsf{c}}E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}.$$
 (39)

According to (10) $\mathbb{E}^{c,0}$ satisfy the divergence free condition hence

$$-\frac{1}{\sqrt{g^0}}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta3}\epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \partial_{\alpha}\left(\frac{g^0_{\kappa\beta}}{\sqrt{g^0}}E^{\mathsf{c},0}_{\iota}\right)\bigg|_{x_3=0^-} = \partial_3 E^{\mathsf{c},0}_3|_{x_3=0^-} - 2\mathscr{H}E^{\mathsf{c},0}_3|_{x_3=0^-}, \quad (40)$$

RR $n^{\circ} 6775$

and similarly for $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},0}$ by replacing $E_i^{\mathsf{c},0}$ by $\widetilde{E}_i^{\mathsf{e},0}$. From (38)–(40) we infer

$$\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},1} = \partial_{3} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} + 2\mathscr{H}\left(\frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} - 1\right) E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}.$$
 (41)

Moreover using (32) in (40) we infer

$$q_{\mathbf{e}}\partial_{3}\widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathbf{e},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} = q_{\mathbf{e}}\partial_{3}E_{3}^{\mathbf{c},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} - 2\mathscr{H}(q_{\mathbf{e}}-q_{\mathbf{c}})E_{3}^{\mathbf{c},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}},$$

and therefore (39) with equality (21) implies

$$q_{\mathsf{e}}\widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} - q_{\mathsf{c}}E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} = (q_{\mathsf{m}} - q_{\mathsf{e}}) \left. \frac{1}{\sqrt{g|_{x_{3}=0}}} \partial_{3} \left(\sqrt{g}\widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},0} \right) \right|_{x_{3}=0^{+}}.$$
 (42)

4.3 Order 2

Since $\partial_\eta \mathcal{E}^{\mathfrak{m},0}_{\alpha} = 0$ we identify the terms in ε^2 in (23) to infer

$$\partial_{\eta}^{2} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},2} = \partial_{\eta} \partial_{\lambda} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},1} + \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \frac{g_{\lambda\iota}^{0}}{\sqrt{g^{0}}} \left\{ \frac{\partial_{\eta}}{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\kappa}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \right) \Big|_{\eta=0} \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{m},1} + \left(\partial_{\kappa} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g^{0}}} \partial_{\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{m},0} \right) - \frac{\partial_{\eta}}{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\kappa}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \right) \Big|_{\eta=0} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},0} \right) \right\} + \mu_{\mathsf{m}} q_{\mathsf{m}} \sqrt{g^{0}} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},0}.$$

$$(43)$$

.

Since the right-hand side of the previous equality does not depend on η , we have

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \left(\partial_{3} \widetilde{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{e},1} - \partial_{\lambda} \widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},1} \right) \Big|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{3} E_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{c},1} - \partial_{\lambda} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1} \right) \Big|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} \left(\partial_{\eta}^{2} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},2} - \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},1} \right) - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \left(\partial_{3}^{2} \widetilde{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{e},0} |_{x_{3}=0^{+}} - \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{3} \widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},0} |_{x_{3}=0^{+}} \right).$$

Since $\delta d\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},0} - \mu_{\mathsf{e}} q_{\mathsf{e}} \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},0} = 0$, explicit formulae of Appendix 2 imply

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{3}^{2} \widetilde{E}_{j}^{\mathsf{e},0}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} &= \left[\mu_{\mathsf{e}} q_{\mathsf{e}} \sqrt{g} \widetilde{E}_{j}^{\mathsf{e},0} + \partial_{3} \partial_{\lambda} \widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},0} + \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \frac{g_{\lambda\iota}}{\sqrt{g}} \partial_{3} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\kappa}}{\sqrt{g}} \right) \partial_{3} \widetilde{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{e},0} \\ &+ \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \frac{g_{\lambda\iota}}{\sqrt{g}} \left(\partial_{\kappa} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \partial_{\alpha} \widetilde{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{e},0} \right) - \partial_{3} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\kappa}}{\sqrt{g}} \right) \partial_{\alpha} \widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},0} \right) \right] \right|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} \end{aligned}$$

According to the transmission condition at the order 0, the following equalities hold

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \left(\partial_{\lambda} \widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},0} - \partial_{3} \widetilde{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{e},0} \right) |_{x_{3}=0^{+}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} \left(\partial_{\lambda} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},0} - \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},1} \right) |_{\eta=0}, \\ &\widetilde{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{e},0} |_{x_{3}=0^{+}} = \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},0} |_{\eta=0}, \end{split}$$

hence we infer the following transmission conditions

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \left(\partial_{3} \widetilde{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{e},1} - \partial_{\lambda} \widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},1} \right) - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{3} E_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{c},1} - \partial_{\lambda} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1} \right) = (q_{\mathsf{m}} - q_{\mathsf{e}}) \widetilde{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{e},0} |_{x_{3}=0^{+}} \\
+ \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \right) \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \frac{g_{\lambda\alpha}}{\sqrt{g}} \partial_{\beta} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \partial_{\iota} \widetilde{E}_{\kappa}^{\mathsf{e},0} \right) \Big|_{x_{3}=0^{+}}.$$
(44)

INRIA

Therefore \mathbb{E}^1 satisfies (31) for n = 1 with the transmission conditions (37)–(44) written in local coordinates. Using equalities (36)–(41) we infer

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},1}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\eta) = \eta \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},1} + E_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}, \quad \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},1}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}},\eta) = \eta \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},1} + \frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}.$$

Remark 4.2. The coefficients at the order 1 are now uniquely determined. Since

$$\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{m},2}|_{\eta=0} = \partial_{\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},1}|_{\eta=0} - \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{\alpha} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1} - \partial_{3} E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},1} \right)|_{x_{3}=0^{-}},$$

 $\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},2}$ is uniquely determined by (43)

$$\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},2} = \eta \partial_{\eta}^{2} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},2} + \partial_{\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},1}|_{\eta=0} - \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{\alpha} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1} - \partial_{3} E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},1} \right)|_{x_{3}=0^{-}}.$$
(45)

Remark 4.3. Transmission condition (42) might be obtained straightforward from (31)–(37)–(44). Writing $\delta d \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{e,1} = \widetilde{a}_i^{e,1} dx^i$ and $\delta d \mathbb{E}^{c,1} = a_i^{c,1} dx^i$ we infer

$$a_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \partial_{\alpha} \left(\frac{g_{\beta\kappa}}{\sqrt{g}} \left(\partial_{3} E_{\iota}^{\mathsf{c},1} - \partial_{\iota} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1} \right) \right),$$

and similarly for $\tilde{a}_3^{e,1}$ by replacing $E^{c,1}$ by $\tilde{E}^{e,1}$. According to (44) we have

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}}\widetilde{a}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}}a_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} = \frac{(q_{\mathsf{m}} - q_{\mathsf{e}})}{\sqrt{g}}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta3}\epsilon_{\iota\kappa3}\partial_{\alpha}\left(\frac{g_{\beta\kappa}}{\sqrt{g}}\widetilde{E}_{\iota}^{\mathsf{e},1}\right)\bigg|_{x_{3}=0^{+}}.$$

The divergence free property of $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{e,0}$ applied in $x_3 = 0^+$ implies

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\rm e}}a_3^{{\rm e},1}|_{x_3=0^+} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\rm c}}a_3^{{\rm c},1}|_{x_3=0^-} = -(q_{\rm m}-q_{\rm e})\frac{1}{\sqrt{g|_{x_3=0}}}\partial_3\left(\sqrt{g}\widetilde{E}_3^{{\rm e},0}\right)|_{x_3=0^+}.$$

Moreover we have

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\rm e}}a_3^{{\rm e},1}|_{x_3=0^+} + q_{\rm e}\widetilde{E}_3^{{\rm e},1}|_{x_3=0^+} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\rm c}}a_3^{{\rm c},1}|_{x_3=0^-} + q_{\rm c}E_3^{{\rm c},1}|_{x_3=0^-} = 0,$$

therefore, we infer

$$q_{\mathbf{e}}\widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathbf{e},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} - q_{\mathbf{c}}E_{3}^{\mathbf{c},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} = (q_{\mathbf{m}} - q_{\mathbf{e}}) \left. \frac{1}{\sqrt{g|_{x_{3}=0}}} \partial_{3} \left(\sqrt{g}\widetilde{E}_{3}^{\mathbf{e},0} \right) \right|_{x_{3}=0^{+}},$$

which is exactly condition (42).

5 Justification of the expansion

Let us rewrite the equations satisfied by the first two terms of the asymptotic expansion of $\mathbb E$ in terms of differential forms. Denote by $\mathbb S$ and $\mathbb T$ the following forms

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{S} = \left(\left(q_{\mathsf{m}} - q_{\mathsf{e}} \right) \widetilde{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{e},0} |_{x_{3}=0^{+}} + \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \right) \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \frac{g_{\lambda\alpha}}{\sqrt{g}} \partial_{\beta} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \partial_{\iota} \widetilde{E}_{\kappa}^{\mathsf{e},0} |_{x_{3}=0^{+}} \right) \right) \mathrm{d}x^{\lambda} \\ &\mathbb{T} = \left(\left(\frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} - \frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{e}}} \right) \partial_{\alpha} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0} |_{x_{3}=0^{-}} + \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}} - \mu_{\mathsf{e}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{3} E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},0} - \partial_{\alpha} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0} \right) |_{x_{3}=0^{-}} \right) \mathrm{d}x^{\alpha}. \end{split}$$

RR $n^{\circ} 6775$

 \triangle

The reader easily verifies that the definitions (13)-(14) coincide with the above expressions of S and T. The 1-form \mathbb{E}^0 satisfies (10) in a weak sense and \mathbb{E}^1 satisfy (31) with the following transmission conditions on Γ accordingly (37)-(42)

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = \mathbb{S},$$
(46a)

$$N_{\Gamma} \wedge \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{T}.$$
(46b)

Observe⁷ that accordingly (42)

$$\delta \mathbb{S} = -(q_{\mathsf{m}} - q_{\mathsf{e}}) \left. \frac{1}{\sqrt{g|_{x_3=0}}} \partial_3 \left(\sqrt{g} \widetilde{E}_3^{\mathsf{e},0} \right) \right|_{x_3=0^+}.$$
(47)

In the cylinder $\Gamma \times (0, 1)$, the 1-form $\mathcal{E}^{m,0}$ equals

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},0} = E^{\mathsf{c},0}_{\alpha}|_{x_3=0^-} \mathrm{d}x^{\alpha} + \frac{q_\mathsf{c}}{q_\mathsf{m}} E^{\mathsf{c},0}_3|_{x_3=0^-} \mathrm{d}x^3, \tag{48}$$

while the 1–form $\mathcal{E}^{m,1}$ equals

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},1} = \left\{ E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} + \eta \left(\frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} \partial_{\alpha} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0} + \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{3} E_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{c},0} - \partial_{\alpha} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0} \right) \right) \Big|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} \right\} \mathrm{d}x^{\alpha} + \left\{ \frac{q_{\mathsf{c}}}{q_{\mathsf{m}}} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} + \eta \left(\partial_{3} E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0} + 2\mathscr{H} \left(\frac{q_{\mathsf{m}}}{q_{\mathsf{c}}} - 1 \right) E_{3}^{\mathsf{c},0} \right) \Big|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} \right\} \mathrm{d}x^{3}.$$

$$(49)$$

5.1 Regularity results

We present now the regularity of the 1-forms \mathbb{E}^0 and \mathbb{E}^1 .

Proposition 5.1. Let Hypothesis 2.2 hold. Moreover let $s \ge 0$ and \mathbb{J} belong to $H^{1+s}\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_e^{d_0})$. Then the 1-forms \mathbb{E}^0 and \mathbb{E}^1 exist and are unique. Moreover the following regularity results hold

$$\begin{split} & \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},\mathsf{0}} \in H^{3+s}\Omega^1\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}\right), \quad \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},\mathsf{0}} \in H^{3+s}\Omega^1\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}\right), \\ & \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},\mathsf{1}} \in H^{2+s}\Omega^1\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}\right), \quad \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},\mathsf{1}} \in H^{2+s}\Omega^1\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}\right). \end{split}$$

Proof. All the assertions concerning \mathbb{E}^0 are proved in the above Proposition 2.6. Since $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},0}$ and $\mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},0}$ belong respectively to $H^{3+s}\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}})$ and $H^{3+s}\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}})$, the forms \mathbb{S} and \mathbb{T} belong to the following Sobolev spaces

$$\mathbb{S} \in H^{1/2+s}\Omega^1(\Gamma), \quad \mathbb{T} \in H^{3/2+s}\Omega^1(\Gamma).$$

⁷Since $q_{\mathsf{e}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} = \mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})\left((1/\mu_{\mathsf{e}})\delta d\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{\Gamma^{+}}\right)$ using (2.05) since $dN_{\Gamma} = 0$ we infer $\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})\left((1/\mu_{\mathsf{e}})\delta d\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{\Gamma^{+}}\right) = -\delta\left((1/\mu_{\mathsf{e}})\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})d\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{\Gamma^{+}}\right)$, and similarly for $\mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},1}$. Therefore accordingly (46a) we infer $q_{\mathsf{e}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - q_{\mathsf{c}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})\mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = -\delta\mathbb{S}$, hence(47) according to (42). Moreover accordingly (47), $\delta \mathbb{S} \in H^{3/2+s}(\Gamma)$. Let $C \in H^{2+s}\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_c)$ such that

$$\delta C = 0, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \quad \begin{cases} N_{\Gamma} \wedge C|_{\Gamma} = N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{T}, \\ \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \mathrm{d}C|_{\Gamma} = \mathbb{S}, \end{cases}, \begin{cases} q_{\mathsf{c}} \mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})C|_{\Gamma} = \delta \mathbb{S}, \\ \delta(q_{\mathsf{c}}C|_{\Gamma}) = 0. \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

Observe that $\delta dC - \mu_c q_c C$ belongs to $H^s \Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_c)$. Denote by U the following 1-form

$$\mathbb{U} = \mathbb{E}^{1,e}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{e}, \quad \mathbb{U} = \mathbb{E}^{1,c} - C, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{c}.$$

Then $\mathbb U$ satisfies

$$\begin{split} \delta \mathrm{d} \mathbb{U} &- \mu_{\mathsf{e}} q_{\mathsf{e}} \mathbb{U} = 0, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}, \\ \delta \mathrm{d} \mathbb{U} &- \mu_{\mathsf{c}} q_{\mathsf{c}} \mathbb{U} = -\delta \mathrm{d} C + \mu_{\mathsf{c}} q_{\mathsf{c}} C, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \\ N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{U}|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0, \end{split}$$

with the following homogeneous transmission conditions on Γ

$$[N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{U}]_{\Gamma} = 0, \quad \left[\frac{1}{\tilde{\mu}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})\mathrm{d}\mathbb{U}\right]_{\Gamma} = 0, \quad [\tilde{q}\,\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})\mathbb{U}]_{\Gamma} = 0.$$

Performing as we did in Proposition 2.6, we infer Proposition 5.1.

The next Proposition give the regularity of the 1-form $\mathcal{E}^{m,0}$, $\mathcal{E}^{m,1}$ and $\mathcal{E}^{m,2}$. Its proof easily comes from Proposition 5.1 and from the explicit expressions of the component of $\mathcal{E}^{m,n}$, for n = 0, 1, 2, given in Section 4.

Proposition 5.2. Let Hypothesis 2.2 hold. Moreover let $s \ge 0$ and suppose that \mathbb{J} belongs to $H^{1+s}\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_{e}^{d_0})$. By abuse of notations⁸, we define $\mathcal{E}^{m,2}$ using (45) by

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},2} = \int_0^{x_3/\varepsilon} \partial_\eta \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},2}_\alpha \mathrm{d}\eta \,\mathrm{d}x^\alpha.$$

Denote by $C^{\infty}\Omega^1([0,1], H^{5/2+s-n}\Omega^1(\Gamma))$ is the space of the 1-forms, which are smooth in the normal variable η , and which belong to $H^{5/2+s-n}\Omega^1(\Gamma)$ at given $\eta \in [0,1]$.

Then for
$$n = 0, 1, 2, \mathcal{E}^{m, n} \in C^{\infty} \Omega^1 \left([0, 1], H^{5/2 + s - n} \Omega^1 (\Gamma) \right)$$
.

5.2 Convergence

Suppose that Hypothesis 2.2 holds, and let the source current density \mathbb{J} belong to $H^3\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_e^{d_0})$, with $\delta \mathbb{J} = 0$. It is convenient to define

$$\mathbb{E}_{app}^{\mathsf{e}} = \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},0} + \varepsilon \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},1}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}, \quad \mathbb{E}_{app}^{\mathsf{c}} = \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},0} + \varepsilon \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},1}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}},$$
$$\forall (\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) \in \Gamma \times (0,\varepsilon), \mathbb{E}_{app}^{\mathsf{m}} \circ \Phi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) = \sum_{n=0}^{2} \varepsilon^{n} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},n}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3/\varepsilon)$$

and let \mathbb{E}_{app} equal to $\mathbb{E}_{app}^{\epsilon}$ in $\mathcal{O}_{e}^{\varepsilon}$, $\mathbb{E}_{app}^{\mathsf{c}}$ in \mathcal{O}_{c} and to $\mathbb{E}_{app}^{\mathsf{m}}$ in $\mathcal{O}_{m}^{\varepsilon}$. According to the construction of the coefficients $(\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},n})_{n=0,1,2}$ and using Proposition 5.2, there exists a 1-form $\mathbb{G} \in C^{\infty}\Omega^{1}\left([0,1], H^{1/2}\Omega^{1}(\Gamma)\right)$, such that

$$\delta d\mathbb{E}_{app}^{\mathsf{m}} - \mu_{\mathsf{m}} q_{\mathsf{m}} \mathbb{E}_{app}^{\mathsf{m}} = \varepsilon \mathbb{G} \circ \Phi^{-1}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}$$

⁸Since $\mathcal{E}^{m,2}$ vanishes in $x_3 = 0$, it is not the third coefficient of the profile in $\Gamma \times (0,1)$.

and for an ε -independent constant C > 0,

$$\sup_{\eta \in [0,1]} \|\mathbb{G}(.,\eta)\|_{H^{1/2}\Omega^{1}(\Gamma)} \leqslant C, \quad \sup_{\eta \in [0,1]} \|\delta\mathbb{G}(.,\eta)\|_{H^{3/2}(\Gamma)} \leqslant C.$$

Define \mathbb{W} by $\mathbb{W} = \mathbb{E} - \mathbb{E}_{app}$ and denote by \mathbb{W}^{e} , \mathbb{W}^{m} and \mathbb{W}^{c} the respective restrictions of \mathbb{W} to $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}$, $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}$ and \mathcal{O}_{c} . In local coordinates, $\mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{e}} = W_i^{\mathsf{e}} \mathrm{d}x^i$, $\mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{m}} = W_i^{\mathsf{m}} \mathrm{d}x^i$ and $\mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{c}} = W_i^{\mathsf{c}} \mathrm{d}x^i$. Theorem 2.8 is a straightforward corollary of the following result.

Theorem 5.3. There exists an ε -independent constant C > 0 such that

$$\|\mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{e}}\|_{H\Omega^{1}(\mathrm{d},\delta,\mathcal{O}^{\varepsilon}_{\mathsf{e}})} + \sqrt{\varepsilon}\|\mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{m}}\|_{H\Omega^{1}(\mathrm{d},\delta,\mathcal{O}^{\varepsilon}_{\mathsf{m}})} + \|\mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{c}}\|_{H\Omega^{1}(\mathrm{d},\delta,\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}})} \leqslant C\varepsilon^{2}.$$

Proof. The 1–form \mathbb{W} satisfies

$$\delta \mathrm{d} \mathbb{W} - \mu q \mathbb{W} = \varepsilon \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}} \mathbb{G}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \quad N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{e}}|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0, \quad \text{on } \partial \mathcal{O},$$

with the following transmission conditions for $\mathscr{S} \in \{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}, \Gamma\}$

$$[N_{\mathscr{S}} \wedge \mathbb{W}]_{\mathscr{S}} = -[N_{\mathscr{S}} \wedge \mathbb{E}_{app}]_{\mathscr{S}}, \qquad (50a)$$

$$\left[\frac{1}{\mu}\operatorname{int}(N_{\mathscr{S}})\mathrm{d}\mathbb{W}\right]_{\mathscr{S}} = -\left[\frac{1}{\mu}\operatorname{int}(N_{\mathscr{S}})\mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}_{app}\right]_{\mathscr{S}}.$$
(50b)

Let $\mathbb{E}_{app}^{\mathsf{e}} = E_i^{\mathsf{e},app} \mathrm{d}x^i$. Accordingly Proposition 5.1 $\mathbb{E}_{app}^{\mathsf{e}} \in H^4\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}})$. Hence there exists $f_{\alpha} \in H^{1/2}(\Gamma)$ and $g_j \in H^{3/2}(\Gamma)$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_3 E_{\alpha}^{\mathbf{e},app} - \partial_{\alpha} E_3^{\mathbf{e},app}) \left|_{x_3=\varepsilon} &= \sum_{l=0,1} \varepsilon^l \partial_3^l \left(\partial_3 E_{\alpha}^{\mathbf{e},app} - \partial_{\alpha} E_3^{\mathbf{e},app} \right) \right|_{x_3=0^+} + \varepsilon^2 f_{\alpha}, \\ E_j^{\mathbf{e},app} \left|_{x_3=\varepsilon} &= E_j^{\mathbf{e},app} \right|_{x_3=0^+} + \varepsilon \partial_3 E_j^{\mathbf{e},app} \left|_{x_3=0^+} + \varepsilon^2 g_j. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover there exists a ε -independent constant C > 0 such that

$$|f_{\alpha}|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} \leq C, |g_j|_{H^{3/2}(\Gamma)} \leq C.$$
 (51)

After simple calculations involving the explicit expressions of $(\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},n})_{n=0,1,2}$ in local coordinates, transmission conditions (50) are written

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \left(\partial_{3} W^{\mathsf{e}}_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha} W^{\mathsf{e}}_{3} \right) |_{x_{3}=\varepsilon^{+}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} \left(\partial_{3} W^{\mathsf{m}}_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha} W^{\mathsf{m}}_{3} \right) |_{x_{3}=\varepsilon^{-}} + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} f_{\alpha} \\ &\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}} \left(\partial_{3} W^{\mathsf{c}}_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha} W^{\mathsf{c}}_{3} \right) |_{x_{3}=0^{-}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} \left(\partial_{3} W^{\mathsf{m}}_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha} W^{\mathsf{m}}_{3} \right) |_{x_{3}=0^{+}}, \\ &W^{\mathsf{e}}_{\alpha} |_{x_{3}=\varepsilon^{+}} = W^{\mathsf{m}}_{\alpha} |_{x_{3}=\varepsilon^{-}} + \varepsilon^{2} g_{\alpha}, \text{ and } \quad W^{\mathsf{c}}_{\alpha} |_{x_{3}=0^{-}} = W^{\mathsf{m}}_{\alpha} |_{x_{3}=0^{+}}. \end{aligned}$$

Observe that $\delta \mathbb{W} = -\frac{\varepsilon}{\mu_m q_m} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{O}_m^{\varepsilon}} \delta \mathbb{G}$, and the following equalities hold

$$q_{\mathbf{e}}W_{3}^{\mathbf{e}}|_{x_{3}=\varepsilon^{+}} = q_{\mathbf{m}}W_{3}^{\mathbf{m}}|_{x_{3}=\varepsilon^{-}} + q_{\mathbf{e}}\varepsilon^{2}g_{3}, \quad q_{\mathbf{c}}W_{3}^{\mathbf{c}}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} = q_{\mathbf{m}}W_{3}^{\mathbf{m}}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}}.$$

We choose $\mathbb{P} = p_i \mathrm{d} x^i$ in $H^2 \Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{e}}^{\varepsilon})$ such that

$$N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \mathbb{P}|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0$$
, and $\mathbb{P}|_{x_3 = \varepsilon^+} = g_i(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}) \mathrm{d} x^i$.

INRIA

Since for $\varepsilon \in (0, d_0/2)$, the domain $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}$ satisfies $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}} \setminus (\mathscr{V}_{\Gamma} \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}) \subset \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon} \subset \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}$, and according to (51), there exists an ε -independent constant C > 0 such that

$$\|\mathbb{P}\|_{H^2\Omega^1(\mathcal{O}_{\epsilon}^{\varepsilon})} \leq C.$$

Defining $\widetilde{\mathbb{W}} = \mathbb{W} + \varepsilon^2 \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{e}}^{\varepsilon}} \mathbb{P}$, we infer

$$\delta \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\mathbb{W}} - \mu q \widetilde{\mathbb{W}} = \varepsilon^2 \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon}} \left(\delta \mathrm{d}\mathbb{P} - \mu_{\mathsf{e}} q_{\mathsf{e}} \mathbb{P} \right) + \varepsilon \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}} \mathbb{G}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}, \quad N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \widetilde{\mathbb{W}}|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0, \quad \text{on } \partial \mathcal{O}$$

and the following transmission conditions hold

$$\begin{split} & \frac{1}{\mu_{\rm e}} \left(\partial_3 \widetilde{W}^{\rm e}_{\alpha} - \partial_\alpha \widetilde{W}^{\rm e}_3 \right) |_{x_3 = \varepsilon^+} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\rm m}} \left(\partial_3 \widetilde{W}^{\rm m}_{\alpha} - \partial_\alpha \widetilde{W}^{\rm m}_3 \right) |_{x_3 = \varepsilon^-} + \frac{\varepsilon^2}{\mu_{\rm e}} \widetilde{f_{\alpha}} \\ & \frac{1}{\mu_{\rm c}} \left(\partial_3 \widetilde{W}^{\rm c}_{\alpha} - \partial_\alpha \widetilde{W}^{\rm c}_3 \right) |_{x_3 = 0^-} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\rm m}} \left(\partial_3 \widetilde{W}^{\rm m}_{\alpha} - \partial_\alpha \widetilde{W}^{\rm m}_3 \right) |_{x_3 = 0^+}, \\ & \widetilde{W}^{\rm e}_{\alpha} |_{x_3 = \varepsilon^+} = \widetilde{W}^{\rm m}_{\alpha} |_{x_3 = \varepsilon^-}, \quad \widetilde{W}^{\rm c}_{\alpha} |_{x_3 = 0^-} = \widetilde{W}^{\rm m}_{\alpha} |_{x_3 = 0^+}, \end{split}$$

where $\widetilde{f_{\alpha}} = f_{\alpha} - (\partial_3 p_{\alpha} - \partial_{\alpha} p_3) |_{x_3 = \varepsilon^+}$. Moreover

$$q_{\mathsf{e}}\widetilde{W}_{3}^{\mathsf{e}}|_{x_{3}=\varepsilon^{+}} = q_{\mathsf{m}}\widetilde{W}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{x_{3}=\varepsilon^{-}}, \quad q_{\mathsf{c}}\widetilde{W}_{3}^{\mathsf{c}}|_{x_{3}=0^{-}} = q_{\mathsf{m}}\widetilde{W}_{3}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{x_{3}=0^{+}}$$

Since the functions $\widetilde{f_{\alpha}}$ are defined on Γ , it is convenient to define $\widetilde{F_{\alpha}}$ on Γ_{ε} by

$$\forall \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}} \in \Gamma, \quad \widetilde{F_{\alpha}} \circ \Phi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \varepsilon) = \widetilde{f_{\alpha}}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}})$$

Denoting by $\widetilde{\mathbb{G}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{F}}$ the following 1–forms defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{G}} = \varepsilon \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\varepsilon}} \mathbb{G} + \varepsilon^{2} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{e}}^{\varepsilon}} \left(\delta \mathrm{d} \mathbb{P} - \mu_{\mathfrak{e}} q_{\mathfrak{e}} \mathbb{P} \right), \quad \widetilde{\mathbb{F}} = \widetilde{F_{\alpha}} \mathrm{d} x^{\alpha},$$

there exists an $\varepsilon\text{--independent constant}\ C>0$ such that

$$\|\widetilde{\mathbb{G}}\|_{L^{2}\Omega^{1}(\mathcal{O})} \leqslant C\varepsilon^{3/2}, \quad \|\delta\widetilde{\mathbb{G}}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \leqslant C\varepsilon^{3/2} \text{ and } \|\widetilde{\mathbb{F}}\|_{H^{-1/2}\Omega^{1}(\Gamma_{\varepsilon})} \leqslant C.$$

The 1-form $\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}$ satisfies the following equalities

$$\delta d\widetilde{\mathbb{W}} - \mu q \widetilde{\mathbb{W}} = \widetilde{\mathbb{G}}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \quad N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{e}}|_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0, \quad \text{on } \partial \mathcal{O}, \quad (52a)$$

with the following transmission conditions on Γ_{ε} and on Γ

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \inf(N_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}}) \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{e}}|_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}^{+}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} \inf(N_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}}) \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}^{-}} + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \widetilde{\mathbb{F}}, \tag{52b}$$

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})d\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\Gamma^{+}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{c}}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})d\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{c}}|_{\Gamma^{-}},$$
(52c)

$$N_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}} \wedge \widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{e}}|_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}^{+}} = N_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}} \wedge \widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}^{-}}, \text{ and } N_{\Gamma} \wedge \widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\Gamma^{+}} = N_{\Gamma} \wedge \widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{c}}|_{\Gamma^{-}}.$$
 (52d)

Moreover

$$\delta \widetilde{\mathbb{W}} = \frac{1}{\mu q} \delta \widetilde{\mathbb{G}}, \quad \text{in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon} \cup \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \tag{53}$$

and $\widetilde{\mathbb{G}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{F}}$ are such that

 $q_{\mathsf{e}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}})\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{e}}|_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}^{+}} = q_{\mathsf{m}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}})\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}^{-}}, \quad q_{\mathsf{c}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{c}}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = q_{\mathsf{m}}\mathsf{int}(N_{\Gamma})\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{m}}|_{\Gamma^{+}}.$

RR n° 6775

Multiply (52) by \widetilde{W} and integrate by parts with the help of (53) to infer

 $\|\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{e}}\|_{H\Omega^{1}(\mathrm{d},\delta,\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}^{\varepsilon})} + \sqrt{\varepsilon}\|\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{m}}\|_{H\Omega^{1}(\mathrm{d},\delta,\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon})} + \|\widetilde{\mathbb{W}}^{\mathsf{c}}\|_{H\Omega^{1}(\mathrm{d},\delta,\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}})} \leqslant C\varepsilon^{2},$ for an ε -independent constant C. Morever $\widetilde{\mathbb{W}} = \mathbb{W} + \varepsilon^{2}1_{\mathcal{O}_{\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon}}\mathbb{P}$ implies

$$\|\mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{e}}\|_{H\Omega^{1}(\mathrm{d},\delta,\mathcal{O}^{\varepsilon}_{\mathsf{e}})} + \sqrt{\varepsilon}\|\mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{m}}\|_{H\Omega^{1}(\mathrm{d},\delta,\mathcal{O}^{\varepsilon}_{\mathsf{m}})} + \|\mathbb{W}^{\mathsf{c}}\|_{H\Omega^{1}(\mathrm{d},\delta,\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}})} \leqslant C\varepsilon^{3/2}, \qquad (54)$$

from which we infer Theorem 2.8.

Acknowledgements

We thank very warmly Monique Dauge for her well-considered advices and suggestions.

Appendix 1 Asymptotic expansion at any order

We may extend our derivation principle to obtain asymptotic transmission conditions at any order. Actually, there exists a recurrence formula, which is given in this appendix. The sketch of the proof of the expansion, which is similar to the proof of Theorem 5.3 is left to the reader. For $(\alpha, \beta, \iota, \kappa) \in \{1, 2\}^4$ define the following sequences $(A^l_{\alpha\beta\iota\kappa})_{l\in\mathbb{N}}, (B^l_{\alpha\beta\iota\kappa})_{l\in\mathbb{N}}, (C^l_{\alpha\beta\iota\kappa})_{l\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(D^l_{\alpha\beta\iota\kappa})_{l\in\mathbb{N}}$ by

$$\begin{cases} A_{\alpha\beta\iota\kappa}^{l} = \left. \frac{\partial_{\eta}^{l}}{\varepsilon^{l}} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\iota}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \frac{\partial_{\eta}}{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{g_{\beta\kappa}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \right) \right) \right|_{\eta=0}, \\ B_{\alpha\beta\kappa}^{l} = \left. \frac{\partial_{\eta}^{l}}{\varepsilon^{l}} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\beta}^{\mathsf{m}}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \partial_{\kappa} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \right) \right) \right|_{\eta=0}, \\ C_{\alpha\beta}^{l} = \left. \frac{\partial_{\eta}^{l}}{\varepsilon^{l}} \left(\frac{g_{\alpha\beta}}{g^{\mathsf{m}}} \right) \right|_{\eta=0}, \\ D^{l} = \left. \frac{\partial_{\eta}^{l}}{\varepsilon^{l}} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \frac{\partial_{\eta}}{\varepsilon} \left(\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}} \right) \right) \right|_{\eta=0}, \\ E_{\alpha\beta\kappa}^{l} = \left. \frac{\partial_{\eta}^{l}}{\varepsilon^{l}} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \partial_{\alpha} \left(\frac{g_{\beta\kappa}}{\sqrt{g^{\mathsf{m}}}} \right) \right) \right|_{\eta=0}. \end{cases}$$

Using (23)-(25), for $k \geq 1$ we define $\partial_{\eta}^2 \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},k+2}$ and $\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},k+1}$ respectively by

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\eta}^{2} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},k+2} &= \partial_{\eta} \partial_{\lambda} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},k+1} + \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} A_{\lambda\alpha\iota\kappa}^{0} \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{m},k+1} - \mu_{\mathsf{m}} q_{\mathsf{m}} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},k} \\ &+ \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \sum_{l=1}^{k} \bigg\{ \Big(B_{\lambda\iota\kappa}^{l} \partial_{\alpha} + C_{\lambda\iota}^{l} \partial_{\kappa} \partial_{\alpha} \Big) \mathcal{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{m},k-l} \\ &+ A_{\lambda\alpha\iota\kappa}^{l} \left(\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{m},k+1-l} - \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},k-l} \right) \bigg\}, \\ \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},k+1} &= -\sum_{l=0}^{k} \bigg(D^{l} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},k-l} + \epsilon_{\alpha\beta3} \epsilon_{\iota\kappa3} \left(C_{\kappa\beta}^{l} \partial_{\alpha} + E_{\alpha\beta\kappa}^{l} \right) \mathcal{E}_{\iota}^{\mathsf{m},k-l} \bigg) \end{split}$$

INRIA

Define now the differential forms \mathbb{S}_{k+1} and \mathbb{T}_{k+1} by

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{S}_{k+1} &= \left\{ \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{m}}} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\partial_{\eta}^{2} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},k+2} - \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{\mathsf{m},k+1} \right) \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &- \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathsf{e}}} \sum_{l=0}^{k} \partial_{x_{3}}^{l} \left(\partial_{3} \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{e},k-l} - \partial_{\lambda} \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}_{3}^{\mathsf{e},k-l} \right) \Big|_{x_{3}=0^{+}} \right\} \mathrm{d}x^{\lambda}, \\ \mathbb{T}_{k+1} &= \left\{ \int_{0}^{1} \partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},k+1} \mathrm{d}\eta - \sum_{l=0}^{k} \partial_{x_{3}}^{l} \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{e},k-l} \right\} \mathrm{d}x^{\lambda}. \end{split}$$

The 1–forms $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},k+1}$ and $\mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},k+1}$ are therefore defined by

$$\begin{split} \delta \mathrm{d} \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},k+1} &- \mu_{\mathsf{e}} q_{\mathsf{e}} \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},k+1} = 0, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{e}}, \\ \delta \mathrm{d} \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},k+1} &- \mu_{\mathsf{c}} q_{\mathsf{c}} \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},k+1} = 0, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{c}}, \\ N_{\partial \mathcal{O}} \wedge \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},k+1} |_{\partial \mathcal{O}} = 0, \end{split}$$

with the following transmission conditions on Γ

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\mathbf{e}}} \operatorname{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathbf{e},k+1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\mathbf{c}}} \operatorname{int}(N_{\Gamma}) \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}^{\mathbf{c},k+1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = \mathbb{S}_{k+1},$$
$$N_{\Gamma} \wedge \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathbf{e},k+1}|_{\Gamma^{+}} - N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{E}^{\mathbf{c},k+1}|_{\Gamma^{-}} = N_{\Gamma} \wedge \mathbb{T}_{k+1}.$$

Since for n = 0, 1 the 1-forms $(\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{m},n}, \mathbb{E}^{\mathsf{c},n}, \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\mathsf{e},n})_{n=0,1}$ are determined by (10)–(48)–(46)–(49), and since $\partial_{\eta} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{m},2}$ is also known according to Remark 4.2, the recurrence process is initialized. The reader could prove that outside a neighborhood of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{m}}^{\varepsilon}$ the following estimate holds $\mathbb{E} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \varepsilon^{k} \mathbb{E}^{k} + O(\varepsilon^{n})$.

Appendix 2 Few notions of differential calculus

Basic notions on differential forms

In order to obtain a self-contained paper, we present here few notions of differential calculus. We refer the reader to the books of Schwarz [31], of Dubrovine *et al.* [9, 10] and of Flanders [15] for more precisions. In this paragraph, n is a positive integer and k is a non negative integer smaller than n.

Let (M, \mathfrak{g}) be a compact connected oriented Riemannian manifold of \mathbb{R}^n with smooth compact boundary ∂M . For $p \in M$, T_pM denotes the tangent space to M at the point p. The tangent bundle TM is the disjoint union of the spaces T_pM , $p \in M$. We denote by $\Gamma(TM)$ the space of the smooth sections⁹ of TM. We recall that the metric \mathfrak{g} on the manifold M is a smooth map $\mathfrak{g}: TM \times TM \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for any $p \in M$, $\mathfrak{g}|_p: T_pM \times T_pM \to \mathbb{R}$ is bilinear, symmetric and positive definite.

Denote by $\Lambda^k(T_pM)$ the space of anti-symmetric k-linear maps and by $\Lambda^k(M)$ the exterior k-form bundle defined by $\Lambda^k(M) = \bigcup_{p \in M} \Lambda^k(T_pM)$. The

⁹ There exists a smooth projection map π from the manifold TM unto M. A section of TM is a smooth map $s: M \to TM$ such that $\pi \circ s = \mathrm{Id}_M$.

space $\Omega^k(M)$ of k-forms is the space of all smooth sections of $\Lambda^k(M)$. We denote by S(k,n) the set of the permutations σ (called (k,n)-shuffles) of the set $\{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ satisfying $\sigma(1) < \dots < \sigma(k)$, $\sigma(k+1) < \dots < \sigma(n)$, and by $\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)$ the signature of the permutation $\sigma \in S(k,n)$. The following definitions and propositions come from Schwarz [31] and Flanders [15].

Definition-Proposition 2.1 (Elementary operations). *Define the exterior, inner and interior products.*

• The exterior product \wedge of differential forms is defined by

$$\wedge: \Omega^k(M) \times \Omega^l(M) \longrightarrow \Omega^{l+k}(M), \quad (\omega, \eta) \longmapsto \omega \wedge \eta,$$

where for arbitrary vector field $X = (X_1, \dots, X_{k+l})$ on M, we have

$$\omega \wedge \eta(X) = \sum_{\sigma \in S(k,k+l)} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \omega(X_{\sigma(1)}, \cdots, X_{\sigma(k)}) \eta(X_{\sigma(k+1)}, \cdots, X_{\sigma(k+l)}).$$

• Let $(E_j)_{j=1}^n$ be a local \mathfrak{g} -orthonormal¹⁰ frame on $U \subset M$. The inner product on $\Omega^k(M)$ is locally defined from $\Omega^k(M) \times \Omega^k(M)$ to $C^{\infty}(M)$ by

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\Omega^k} : (\omega, \eta) \mapsto \langle \omega, \eta \rangle_{\Omega^k} = \sum_{\sigma \in S(k, n)} \omega(E_{\sigma(1)}, \cdots, E_{\sigma(k)}) \eta(E_{\sigma(1)}, \cdots, E_{\sigma(k)}).$$

• The Hodge star operator is defined by

$$\star: \Omega^k(M) \longrightarrow \Omega^{n-k}(M), \quad \omega \mapsto \star \omega,$$

where $\star \omega$ is the unique (n-k)-form satisfying

$$\forall \eta \in \Omega^k, \quad \eta \wedge \star \omega = \langle \eta, \omega \rangle_{\Omega^k} \operatorname{dvol}_M.$$

The notation $dvol_M$ denotes the Riemannian volume n-form

$$\operatorname{dvol}_M(X_1,\cdots,X_n) = \sqrt{\operatorname{det}(\mathfrak{g}(X_i,X_j))}.$$

• The interior product int(Y) with a smooth vector field Y of $\Gamma(TM)$ is defined by

$$\operatorname{int}(Y):\Omega^k(M)\longrightarrow \Omega^{k-1}(M),\quad \omega\mapsto \operatorname{int}(Y)\omega,$$

where

$$\left(\mathsf{int}(Y)\omega\right)(X_1,\cdots,X_{k-1})=\omega(Y,X_1,\cdots,X_{k-1}),\,\forall(X_1,\cdots,X_{k-1})\in\Gamma(TM)^{k-1}.$$

Remark 2.2. [Identifications of spaces] The space $C^{\infty}(M)$ of smooth functions on M and $\Omega^{0}(M)$ coincide. Moreover by definition, $\Omega^{1}(M)$ is the cotangent bundle¹¹ $T^{*}M$. Therefore we may identify the space of vector fields $\Gamma(TM)$ with $\Omega^{1}(M)$.

¹⁰For $U \subset M$, the tuple $(E_j)_{j=1}^n \in \Gamma(TU)^n$ is a local \mathfrak{g} -orthonormal frame on M if for any $p \in U$, $\mathfrak{g}(E_i, E_j)|_p = \delta_i^j$, where δ_i^j is the well-known Kronecker symbol equal to 1 if i = j and 0 if $i \neq j$.

¹¹The cotangent bundle T^*M is the disjoint union for $x \in M$ of linear forms on T_xM .

Remark 2.3. [Duality of the interior and exterior products] Denote by Y a vector field and identify Y with its corresponding 1-form. The interior product int(Y) is the dual map of the left exterior multiplication $Y \land$

$$\forall \omega \in \Omega^{k+1}(M), \, \forall \eta \in \Omega^k \quad \langle \mathsf{int}(Y)\omega, \eta \rangle_{\Omega^k(M)} = \langle \omega, Y \wedge \eta \rangle_{\Omega^{k+1}(M)}. \tag{2.01}$$

Definition-Proposition 2.4 (Differential operators). We define the exterior differential, the codifferential and the Laplace-Beltrami operators. • Let $(dy^j)_{j=1}^n$ be a basis of $\Omega^1(M)$. There exists an unique differential operator $d: \Omega^k(M) \to \Omega^{k+1}(M)$, called exterior differential, such that

$$\begin{aligned} \forall (\omega, \eta) \in \Omega^k(M) \times \Omega^k(M), \quad \mathrm{d}(\omega + \eta) &= \mathrm{d}\omega + \mathrm{d}\eta, \\ \forall (\omega, \eta) \in \Omega^k(M) \times \Omega^l(M), \quad \mathrm{d}(\omega \wedge \eta) &= \mathrm{d}\omega \wedge \eta + (-1)^l \omega \wedge \mathrm{d}\eta, \\ \forall \omega \in \Omega^k(M), \quad \mathrm{d}(\mathrm{d}\omega) &= 0, \end{aligned}$$
$$\forall f \in C^{\infty}(M), \quad \mathrm{d}f : (y^1, \cdots, y^n) \in M \to \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial f}{\partial y^j} (y^1, \cdots, y^n) \mathrm{d}y^j \end{aligned}$$

• The codifferential is the map $\delta: \Omega^k(M) \to \Omega^{k-1}(M)$ defined by

 $\forall \omega \in \Omega^k(M), \quad \delta \omega = (-1)^{nk+n+1} \star d(\star \omega), \text{ if } k \neq 0 \text{ and } \delta \sim 0 \text{ on functions.}$

• The Laplace-Beltrami operator¹² $\Delta : \Omega^k(M) \to \Omega^k(M)$ is defined by

 $\forall \omega \in \Omega^k(M), \quad \Delta \omega = -\left(\mathrm{d}\delta\omega + \delta \mathrm{d}\omega\right).$

Appendix 2 is devoted to the explicit formulae of differential calculus in \mathbb{R}^3 equipped with the Euclidean metric in any system of coordinates. This formulae will be useful in the derivation of our asymptotic result.

Notation 2.5. To simplify notations, and when it is evident, we omit the \wedge symbol between 2 differential forms. For example, we denote by $dy^i dy^j = dy^i \wedge dy^j$. Observe that obviously $dy^i dy^j = -dy^j dy^i$.

Define now the Sobolev spaces needed in the paper.

Definition 2.6 (Sobolev spaces). Let $(U_a)_{a \in A}$ be an open cover of M, let $(\chi_a)_{a \in A}$ be a subordinated partition of the unity and let (E_1^a, \dots, E_n^a) be a family of local frames. Denote by ∇ the induced Levi-Cività connection on M, and let $\Omega_c^k(M)$ be the space of the compactly supported k-forms on M. This space is equipped with the following L^2 -inner product

$$\langle\langle\omega,\eta
angle
angle = \int_M \langle\omega,\eta
angle_{\Omega^k} \operatorname{dvol}_M.$$

For $s \in \mathbb{N}$, define the $H^s \Omega^k(M)$ -norm as follows

$$\|\omega\|_{H^s\Omega^k(M)}^2 = \sum_{a \in A} \int_M \chi_a |\omega|_{J^s(\Lambda)}^2 \operatorname{dvol}_M,$$

 $^{^{12}}$ In order to identify Δ with the operator $\nabla\cdot(\nabla\cdot)$ we choose here to define the Laplace-Beltrami operator as the opposite of the geometric Laplacian.

where

$$|\omega|_{J^0(\Lambda)}^2 = \langle \omega, \omega \rangle_{\Omega^k}, \quad |\omega|_{J^s(\Lambda)}^2 = |\omega|_{J^{s-1}(\Lambda)}^2 + \sum_{j=1}^n |\nabla_{E_j^a} \omega|_{J^{s-1}(\Lambda)}^2.$$

The Sobolev space $H^s\Omega^k(M)$ is defined as the completion of $\Omega^k_c(M)$ for the above $H^s\Omega^k(M)$ -norm.

The Sobolev spaces $H^s\Omega^k(M)$, for $s \in \mathbb{R}$, are defined similarly to the Sobolev spaces of functions: see Lions and Magenes [20].

Proposition 2.7 (Traces on ∂M for $H\Omega^k(\mathbf{d}, M)$ and $H\Omega^k(\delta, M)$). Denote by \mathcal{J} the natural embedding $\partial M \to M$ and \mathcal{J}^* its pull-back $\mathcal{J}^* : \Omega^k(M) \to \Omega^k(\partial M)$. Denote by $N_{\partial M}$ the outward normal¹³ to ∂M . The following traces hold [31, 18, 24]

for all
$$\omega \in H\Omega^k(\mathbf{d}, M)$$
, $\mathcal{J}^*(\omega) \in H^{-1/2}\Omega^k(\partial M)$, (2.02)

for all
$$\omega \in H\Omega^k(\delta, M)$$
, $\operatorname{int}(N_{\partial M})\omega \in H^{-1/2}\Omega^k(\partial M)$, (2.03)

for all
$$s \ge 0$$
, for all $\omega \in H^s \Omega^k(M)$, $\omega|_{\partial M} \in H^{s-1/2} \Omega^k(M)|_{\partial M}$. (2.04)

Moreover the usual Sobolev embeddings hold true for the k-forms. The following Green formula is useful (see [31, 18, 24]).

Proposition 2.8 (Green formula). Denote by N the outward normal to ∂M . Let $(\omega, \eta) \in H\Omega^{k-1}(\mathbf{d}, M) \times H\Omega^k(\delta, M)$, such that either $\mathcal{J}^*\omega$ or $int(N)\eta$ belongs to $H^{1/2}\Omega^{k-1}(\partial M)$. The following equality holds

$$\begin{split} \int_{M} \langle \mathrm{d}\omega, \eta \rangle_{\Omega^{k}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathrm{vol}_{M} &= \int_{M} \langle \omega, \delta\eta \rangle_{\Omega^{k-1}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathrm{vol}_{M} \\ &- \int_{\partial M} \langle \omega, \mathsf{int}(N)\eta \rangle_{\Omega^{k-1}} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{\partial M} \end{split}$$

We denote by $d\sigma_{\partial M}$ the surface form of ∂M , in order to differentiate the volume form of M and the surface form of ∂M .

Property 2.9 (Useful equality). Suppose now that M is a compact connected oriented Riemanian manifold without boundary. Let ω is a k-form and Y is a smooth 1-form such that dY = 0. Then applying the above Green formula with the help of equality (2.01) we infer that for $\omega \in H\Omega^k(\delta, M)$

$$\operatorname{int}(Y)\delta\omega = (-1)^k \delta\left(\operatorname{int}(Y)\omega\right). \tag{2.05}$$

¹³Denote by $\Gamma(TM|_{\partial M})$ the space of vector fields on M sitting over the boundary ∂M . A field $N \in \Gamma(TM|_{\partial M})$ is a unit normal field on M is $\mathfrak{g}(N,N) = 1$ and for any $Y \in \Gamma(T\partial M)$, $\mathfrak{g}(Y,N) = 0$. Therefore observe that dN = 0.

Proof. Actually, for any $\eta \in H\Omega^{k-2}(\mathbf{d}, M)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{M} \langle \operatorname{int}(Y) \delta \omega, \eta \rangle_{\Omega^{k-2}} \operatorname{dvol}_{M} &= \int_{M} \langle \delta \omega, Y \wedge \eta \rangle_{\Omega^{k-1}} \operatorname{dvol}_{M} \\ &= \int_{M} \langle \omega, \operatorname{d}(Y \wedge \eta) \rangle_{\Omega^{k}} \operatorname{dvol}_{M}, \\ &= (-1)^{k-2} \int_{M} \langle \omega, Y \wedge \operatorname{d} \eta \rangle_{\Omega^{k}} \operatorname{dvol}_{M} \\ &= (-1)^{k-2} \int_{M} \langle \operatorname{int}(Y) \omega, \operatorname{d} \eta \rangle_{\Omega^{k-1}} \operatorname{dvol}_{M} \\ &= (-1)^{k-2} \int_{M} \langle \delta \left(\operatorname{int}(Y) \omega \right), \eta \rangle_{\Omega^{k-2}} \operatorname{dvol}_{M}. \end{split}$$

Explicit formulae

The definitions and propositions of the previous paragraph recall the basic notions of differential calculus for a general compact connected oriented Riemannian manifold (M, \mathfrak{g}) of \mathbb{R}^n with smooth compact boundary ∂M . Present now the explicit formulae of the differential calculus for a manifold $M \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ equipped with the Euclidean metric. Denote by (x, y, z) the usual Euclidean coordinates of M and let (y_1, y_2, y_3) another system of coordinates: there exists a C^{∞} -diffeomrphism ψ such that $\psi(y_1, y_2, y_3) = (x, y, z)$. The Euclidean metric in (y_1, y_2, y_3) -coordinates is given by the matrix $(g_{ij})_{i,j=1,2,3}$: $g_{ij} = \partial_{y_i} \psi \cdot \partial_{y_j} \psi$, where \cdot denotes the Euclidean scalar product of \mathbb{R}^3 . The inverse matrix of $(g_{ij})_{ij}$ is denoted by $(g^{ij})_{ij}$ and set

$$g = \det\left((g_{ij})_{i,j=1,2,3}\right).$$

Denote by (dy^1, dy^2, dy^3) the basis of $\Omega^1(M)$ associated to (y_1, y_2, y_3) . It is clear that 2-forms $(dy^2 \wedge dy^3, dy^3 \wedge dy^1, dy^1 \wedge dy^2)$ is a basis of $\Omega^2(M)$. Since M is equipped with the Euclidean metric, we perform the change of coordinates $\psi(y_1, y_2, y_3) = (x, y, z)$ to infer that the inner product $\langle ., \rangle_{\Omega^k}$ for k = 0, 1, 2, is determined in (y_1, y_2, y_3) -coordinates by¹⁴ the following equalities

$$\langle F, G \rangle_{\Omega^0} = FG,$$
 (2.06a)

$$\langle \mathrm{d}y^i, \mathrm{d}y^j \rangle_{\Omega^1} = g^{ij}, \tag{2.06b}$$

$$\langle \mathrm{d}y^i \mathrm{d}y^k, \mathrm{d}y^j \mathrm{d}y^l \rangle_{\Omega^2} = g^{ij} g^{kl} - g^{il} g^{jk}, \qquad (2.06\mathrm{c})$$

$$\langle F \mathrm{d}y^1 \mathrm{d}y^2 \mathrm{d}y^3, G \mathrm{d}y^1 \mathrm{d}y^2 \mathrm{d}y^3 \rangle_{\Omega^3} = \frac{1}{g} F G,$$
 (2.06d)

where F and G are smooth functions on M, and g is the determinant of (g_{ij}) . • Exterior products on \mathbb{R}^3 . The exterior product between a k-form and a l-form equals zero as soon a k + l > 3. Moreover, for $k \in \{0, \dots, 3\}$, the exterior product between a 0-form and a k-form is the usual scalar multiplication between a function and a k-form. Accordingly Definition-Proposition 2.1, the

 $^{^{14}}$ To simplify notations, we omit the sign \wedge between the differential forms $\mathrm{d}y^i$ and $\mathrm{d}y^j,$ for i,j=1,2,3.

following formulae hold.

▷ Exterior product of 1-forms. Let $\lambda = \lambda_i dy^i$ and $\mu = \mu_i dy^i$ be two 1-forms, then

$$\lambda \wedge \mu = \lambda_i \mu_j \mathrm{d} y^i \mathrm{d} y^j = \frac{\epsilon_{ijk}}{2} \left(\epsilon_{klm} \lambda_l \mu_m \right) \mathrm{d} y^i \mathrm{d} y^j.$$

▷ Exterior product between a 2-form and a 1-form. Let $\lambda = \frac{\epsilon_{ijk}}{2} \lambda_k dy^i dy^j$ and $\mu = \mu_i dy^i$, then

$$\wedge \mu = \lambda_k \mu_k \mathrm{d} y^1 \mathrm{d} y^2 \mathrm{d} y^3.$$

• Expression of d. A straightforward application of the reccurence formula given in Definition-Proposition 2.4 implies the following formulae.

 \triangleright d on 0-forms. Let λ be a 0-form, *i.e.* λ is a function. Then

$$\mathrm{d}\lambda = \frac{\partial\lambda}{\partial y_i} \mathrm{d}y^i.$$

 \triangleright d on 1-forms. Let $\mu = \mu_i dy^i$, then $d\mu$ equals

 λ

$$\mathrm{d}\mu = \frac{\partial \mu_j}{\partial y_i} \mathrm{d}y^i \mathrm{d}y^j = \frac{\epsilon_{ijk}}{2} \left(\epsilon_{klm} \frac{\partial \mu_m}{\partial y_l} \right) \mathrm{d}y^i \mathrm{d}y^j.$$

 \triangleright d on 2-forms. Let $\lambda = \frac{\epsilon_{ijk}}{2} \lambda_k dy^i d^j$ be a 2-form, then we have

$$\mathrm{d}\lambda = \frac{\partial\lambda_k}{\partial y_k} \,\mathrm{d}y^1 \mathrm{d}y^2 \mathrm{d}y^3.$$

Proposition 2.10 (Star Hodge operator). Star Hodge operator is defined by Definition-Proposition 2.1.

• Hodge on functions and 3-forms. Let S be a 0-form and $T = \tau dy^1 dy^2 dy^3$ be a 3-form. Then

$$\star S = \sqrt{g}S \,\mathrm{d}y^1 \mathrm{d}y^2 \mathrm{d}y^3, \quad \star T = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}}\tau.$$

• Hodge on 1-forms. Let $R = R_i dy^i$ be a 1-form. Then $\star R$ is the 2-form defined by

$$\star R = \frac{\epsilon_{ijk}}{2} \sqrt{g} g^{kl} R_l \, \mathrm{d} y^i \mathrm{d} y^j.$$

• Hodge on 2-forms. Let $S = \frac{\epsilon_{ijk}}{2} S_k dy^i dy^j$ be a 2-form. Then $\star S$ is the 1-form equal to

$$\star S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} g_{ik} S_k \, \mathrm{d} y^i.$$

Proof. According to Definition-Proposition 2.1, if ω is a k-form, then $\star \omega$ is the 3-k form such that

$$\forall \eta \in \Omega^k(M), \quad \eta \wedge \star \omega = \langle \eta, \omega \rangle_{\Omega^k(M)} \sqrt{g} \, \mathrm{d} y^1 \mathrm{d} y^2 \mathrm{d} y^3.$$

Applying the above formulae of the exterior products, and equalities (2.06), we infer the proposition.

Proposition 2.11 (The codifferential operator δ). The codifferential is defined by Definition-Proposition 2.4.

• Codifferential of 1-forms. Let $\mu = \mu_i dy^i$, then

$$\delta\mu = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} \left(\sqrt{g}g^{kl}\mu_l\right).$$
(2.07)

• Codifferential of 2-forms. Let $\lambda = \frac{\epsilon_{ijk}}{2} \lambda_k dy^i dy^j$, then

$$\delta \lambda = \epsilon_{jkl} \frac{g_{ij}}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} \left(\frac{g_{lm}}{\sqrt{g}} \lambda_m \right) \mathrm{d} y^i.$$

Proof. Since the codifferential on k-forms in \mathbb{R}^3 is defined by $\delta = (-1)^{3k} \star d\star$, a straightforward application of the formulae of the differential operator d and the use of Proposition 2.10 lead to the formulae of the codifferential operator. \Box

Proposition 2.11 with the formulae of d differential operator implies the following corollary.

Corollary 2.12 (δd and Δ operators on functions and on 1-forms). *Recall that* $\Delta = -(\delta d + d\delta)$.

• Let f be a function. Then

$$\Delta f = -\delta \mathrm{d}f = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} \left(\sqrt{g} g^{kl} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_l} f \right).$$
(2.08)

• Let $\lambda = \lambda_i dy^i$ be a 1-form, then

$$\delta d\lambda = \epsilon_{ijk} \epsilon_{lmn} \frac{g_{ri}}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_j} \left(\frac{g_{kl}}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_m} \lambda_n \right) dy^r,$$
(2.09)

$$\Delta \lambda = -\left(\epsilon_{ijk}\epsilon_{lmn}\frac{g_{ri}}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\partial}{\partial y_j}\left(\frac{g_{kl}}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\partial}{\partial y_m}\lambda_n\right) - \frac{\partial}{\partial y_r}\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\partial}{\partial y_k}\left(\sqrt{g}g^{kl}\lambda_l\right)\right)\right) dy^r.$$
(2.010)

Using equality (2.01), we infer the following proposition.

Proposition 2.13 (Interior product). Let N be a vector-field identified with the corresponding 1-form $N = N_i dy^i$.

• Interior product of a vector-field on a 1-form. Let $\mu = \mu_i dy^i$. Then

$$\operatorname{int}(N)\mu = g^{ij}N_j\mu_i. \tag{2.011}$$

• Interior product of a vector-field on a 2-form. Let $\mu = \mu_{ij} dy^i dy^j$, then

$$\operatorname{int}(N)\mu = g_{rl}\mu_{ij}N_k \left(g^{ik}g^{jl} - g^{il}g^{jk}\right) \,\mathrm{d}y^r.$$
(2.012)

References

 S. Agmon, A. Douglis, and L. Nirenberg. Estimates near the boundary for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations satisfying general boundary conditions. I. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 12:623–727, 1959.

- [2] S. Agmon, A. Douglis, and L. Nirenberg. Estimates near the boundary for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations satisfying general boundary conditions. II. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 17:35–92, 1964.
- [3] C. Balanis. Advanced Engineering Electromagnetics. John Wiley and Sons Ltd, 1989.
- [4] S. Ciuperca, M. Jai, and C. Poignard. Approximate transmission conditions through a rough thin layer. The case of the periodic roughness. Submitted.
- [5] M. Costabel, M. Dauge, and S. Nicaise. Singularities of eddy currents problems. Preprint of the Newton Institute, 2003.
- [6] M. Costabel, M. Dauge, and S. Nicaise. Corner singularities of Maxwell interface and eddy current problems. In Operator theoretical methods and applications to mathematical physics, volume 147 of Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., pages 241–256. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2004.
- [7] M. Dauge, I. Djurdjevič, E. Faou, and A. Rössle. Eigenmode asymptotics in thin elastic plates. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 78(9):925–964, 1999.
- [8] M.P. do Carmo. Differential geometry of curves and surfaces. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1976. Translated from the Portuguese.
- [9] B. Doubrovine, S. Novikov, and A. Fomenko. Géométrie contemporaine. Méthodes et applications. I. "Mir", Moscow, 1982. Géométrie des surfaces, des groupes de transformations et des champs. [Geometry of surfaces, groups of transformations and fields], Translated from the Russian by Vladimir Kotliar.
- [10] B.A. Dubrovin, A.T. Fomenko, and S.P. Novikov. Modern geometry methods and applications. Part I, volume 93 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1992. The geometry of surfaces, transformation groups, and fields, Translated from the Russian by Robert G. Burns.
- [11] B. Engquist and J.C. Nédélec. Effective boundary condition for acoustic and electromagnetic scattering thin layer. *Technical Report of CMAP*, 278, 1993.
- [12] E. Faou. Elasticity on a thin shell: formal series solution. Asymptot. Anal., 31(3-4):317–361, 2002.
- [13] E. Faou. Multiscale expansions for linear clamped elliptic shells. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 29(11-12):1799–1845, 2004.
- [14] E.C. Fear and M.A. Stuchly. Modelling assemblies of biological cells exposed to electric fields. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, 45(10):1259–1271, Oct 1998.
- [15] H. Flanders. Differential forms with applications to the physical sciences. Academic Press, New York, 1963.

- [16] K.R. Foster and H.P. Schwan. Dielectric properties of tissues and biological materials: a critical review. CRC in Biomedical Engineering, 17(1):25–104, 1989.
- [17] Y.V. Kurylev, M. Lassas, and E. Somersalo. Reconstruction of a manifold from electromagnetic boundary measurements. In *Inverse problems: theory* and applications (Cortona/Pisa, 2002), volume 333 of Contemp. Math., pages 147–161. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003.
- [18] Y.V. Kurylev, M. Lassas, and E. Somersalo. Maxwell's equations with a polarization independent wave velocity: direct and inverse problems. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 86(3):237–270, 2006.
- [19] Y. Y. Li and M. S. Vogelius. Gradient estimates for solutions to divergence form elliptic equations with discontinuous coefficients. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 153(2):91–151, 2000.
- [20] J.-L. Lions and E. Magenes. Problèmes aux limites non homogènes et applications. Vol. 1. Travaux et Recherches Mathématiques, No. 17. Dunod, Paris, 1968.
- [21] D. Miklavčič, D. Šermov, H. Mekid, and L.M. Mir. A validated model of in vivo electric field distribution in tissues for electrochemotherapy and for DNA electrotransfer for gene therapy. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1523:73–83, 2000.
- [22] L.M. Mir. Electroporation of cells in tissues. Methods for detecting cell electropermeabilisation in vivo. In Electroporation based Technologies and Treatment: proceedings of the international scientific workshop and postgraduate course, pages 32–35, 14-20 November 2005. Ljubljana, SLOVE-NIA.
- [23] S. Muñoz, J.L. Sebastián, M. Sancho, and J.M. Miranda. Transmembrane voltage induced on altered erythrocyte shapes exposed to RF fields. *Bioelectromagnetics*, 25(1):631–633 (electronic), 2004.
- [24] Luc Paquet. Problèmes mixtes pour le système de Maxwell. Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (5), 4(2):103–141, 1982.
- [25] V. Péron. Description de l'effet de peau par un développement asymptotique. PhD thesis, Université Rennes 1, 2009. In preparation.
- [26] C. Poignard. Rigorous asymptotics for the electric field in tm mode at midfrequency in a bidimensional medium with a thin layer. Preprint. 27p., sept 2006.
- [27] C. Poignard. Asymptotics for steady state voltage potentials in a bidimensional highly contrasted medium with thin layer. *Math. Meth. Appl. Sci.*, July 2007. DOI: 10.1002/mma.923.
- [28] C. Poignard. Approximate transmission conditions through a weakly oscillating thin layer. Math. Meth. App. Sci., sept 2008. To appear.

- [29] C. Poignard, P. Dular, R. Perrussel, L. Krähenbühl, L. Nicolas, and M. Schatzman. Approximate condition replacing thin layer. *IEEE Trans.* on Mag., 44(6):1154–1157, 2008.
- [30] G. Pucihar, T. Kotnik, B. Valič, and D. Miklavčič. Numerical determination of transmembrane voltage induced on irregularly shaped cells. Ann Biomed Eng, 34(4):642–652, Apr 2006.
- [31] G. Schwarz. Hodge Decomposition- A method for solving boundary value problems. Springer. Lecture notes, Berlin, 1995.
- [32] J.L. Sebastián, S. Muñoz, M. Sancho, and J.M. Miranda. Analysis of the influence of the cell geometry and cell proximity effects on the electric field distribution from direct rf exposure. *Phys. Med. Biol.*, 46:213–225 (electronic), 2001.
- [33] T.Y. Tsong. Electroporation of cell membranes. Biophys J., 60:297–306, 1991.
- [34] D. Šel, D. Cukjati, D. Batiuskaite, T. Slivnik, L.M. Mir, and D. Miklavčič. Sequential finite element model of tissue electropermeabilization. *IEEE Trans. Bio. Eng.*, 52(5):816–827, 2005.
- [35] K.F. Warnick and D.V. Arnold. Electromagnetic Green functions using differential forms. Journal of Electromagnetic Waves and Applications, 10(3):427–438, 1996.
- [36] K.F. Warnick, R. Selfridge, and D.V. Arnold. Teaching electromagnetic field Green functions using differential forms. *Journal of Electromagnetic Waves and Applications*, 10(3):427–438, 1996.



Centre de recherche INRIA Bordeaux – Sud Ouest Domaine Universitaire - 351, cours de la Libération - 33405 Talence Cedex (France)

Centre de recherche INRIA Grenoble – Rhône-Alpes : 655, avenue de l'Europe - 38334 Montbonnot Saint-Ismier Centre de recherche INRIA Lille – Nord Europe : Parc Scientifique de la Haute Borne - 40, avenue Halley - 59650 Villeneuve d'Ascq Centre de recherche INRIA Nancy – Grand Est : LORIA, Technopôle de Nancy-Brabois - Campus scientifique 615, rue du Jardin Botanique - BP 101 - 54602 Villers-lès-Nancy Cedex Centre de recherche INRIA Paris – Rocquencourt : Domaine de Voluceau - Rocquencourt - BP 105 - 78153 Le Chesnay Cedex Centre de recherche INRIA Rennes – Bretagne Atlantique : IRISA, Campus universitaire de Beaulieu - 35042 Rennes Cedex Centre de recherche INRIA Saclay – Île-de-France : Parc Orsay Université - ZAC des Vignes : 4, rue Jacques Monod - 91893 Orsay Cedex Centre de recherche INRIA Sophia Antipolis – Méditerranée : 2004, route des Lucioles - BP 93 - 06902 Sophia Antipolis Cedex

> Éditeur INRIA - Domaine de Voluceau - Rocquencourt, BP 105 - 78153 Le Chesnay Cedex (France) http://www.inria.fr ISSN 0249-6399